



Swansea University E-Theses

The Klebanov Polyakov correspondence on a squashed three sphere and Wilson loops in non relativistic AdS/CFT.

Yonge, Mark D

How to cite:

Yonge, Mark D (2010) The Klebanov Polyakov correspondence on a squashed three sphere and Wilson loops in non relativistic AdS/CFT.. thesis, Swansea University. http://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa42415

Use policy:

This item is brought to you by Swansea University. Any person downloading material is agreeing to abide by the terms of the repository licence: copies of full text items may be used or reproduced in any format or medium, without prior permission for personal research or study, educational or non-commercial purposes only. The copyright for any work remains with the original author unless otherwise specified. The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder. Permission for multiple reproductions should be obtained from the original author.

Authors are personally responsible for adhering to copyright and publisher restrictions when uploading content to the repository.

Please link to the metadata record in the Swansea University repository, Cronfa (link given in the citation reference above.)

http://www.swansea.ac.uk/library/researchsupport/ris-support/

The Klebanov Polyakov Correspondence on a Squashed Three Sphere and Wilson Loops in Non Relativistic AdS/CFT

Mark D. Yonge

Submitted to the University of Wales in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Physics.

Swansea University

March 19, 2010

ProQuest Number: 10798123

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10798123

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



Abstract

Motivated by the Klebanov-Polyakov conjecture we investigate the O(N) vector model at large N on a squashed three-sphere and its holographic relation to bulk gravity on asymptotically locally AdS_4 space. We present analytical results for the action of the field theory as the squashing parameter , $\alpha \rightarrow -1$, when the boundary becomes effectively one dimensional. In this limit we solve the theory exactly and show that the action of the boundary theory scales as $\ln(1 + \alpha)/(1 + \alpha)^2$ which is to be compared and contrasted with the $-1/(1 + \alpha)^2$ scaling of gravity in AdS-Taub-NUT space. These results are consistent with the numerical evidence presented in hep-th/0503238, and the soft logarithmic departure is interpreted as a prediction for the contribution due to higher spin fields in the bulk AdS_4 geometry.

We then give an introduction to non relativistic AdS/CFT and numerically compute the inter quark potential in the non relativistic theory obtained by taking the DLCQ of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM theory by considering Wilson loops in the dual string theory via the AdS/CFT correspondence.

DECLARATION

This work has not been previously accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signed(Mark Yonge)

STATEMENT 1:

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Where correction services have been used, the extent and nature of the correction is clearly marked in the footnotes.

Other sources are acknowledged by footnotes giving explicit references. A bibliography is appended.

1 Signed(Mark Yonge)

STATEMENT2:

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed(Mark Yonge)

Date. 09/04/10

Contents

1	A E	Brief Overview of the AdS/CFT correspondence	7		
2	$\mathbf{Th}\epsilon$	The Klebanov Polyakov Correspondence on a Squashed Three			
	\mathbf{Sph}	here in the Limit $\alpha \rightarrow -1$	9		
	2.1	Introduction to the Klebanov Polyakov Correspondence	9		
	2.2	The Klebanov Polyakov correspondence and The Squashed			
		Three Sphere	11		
	2.3	O(N) Model in the Large N Limit	15		
	2.4	The $O(N)$ model as $\alpha \to -1$	18		
	2.5	Analytic continuation of the zeta function	19		
	2.6	Summary and Discussion	21		
3	Intr	oduction to Non Relativistic AdS/CFT	23		
	3.1	Calculation of a Non Relativistic Metric via a Null Melvin Twist	25		
	3.2	DCLQ'S	31		
4	Wil	son Loops in Non Relativistic AdS/CFT	32		
	4.1	Introduction to Wilson Loops	32		
	4.2	Virtual Photoabsorption Cross Section	33		
	4.3	The Cronin Effect	34		
	4.4	BDMPS Energy Loss and the Jet Quenching parameter	35		
	4.5	Calculation of Wilson Loops in AdS/CFT via string theory	37		
	4.6	Calculation of Wilson Loops in a Background Dual to a Non			
		relativistic Field Theory	38		
	4.7	The Light Like Limit	45		
	4.8	The Static Potential at arbitrary angles to the Plasma	49		

. .

¢

Acknowledgements

Mark Yonge would like to thank the STFC for their financial support during this work.

. .

List of Figures

1	The action $\frac{I}{N}$ of the $O(N)$ model at strong coupling as a function of α .	14
2	The Gravitational action as a function of α	14
3	The contours used for the analytic continuation of the zeta function. $\ . \ .$	20
4	Graph of $L \vee u_{min}$ for $\beta = 1$	43
5	Graph of $V(u_{min})$ v u_{min} for $\beta = 1$	44
6	Graph of $V(L)$ v L for $\beta = 1$	44
7	A(eta) as a function of eta	47
8	Graph of $V(u_{min})$ v u_{min} for $\beta = 1, c = 1. \ldots \ldots \ldots$	52
9	Graph of the minimum value of u_{min} against p	53
10	Graph of $V(u_{min})$ against u_{min} for $b = 1. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	53

. .

1 A Brief Overview of the AdS/CFT correspondence

The AdS/CFT correspondence is a set of dualities between string theories and field theories existing in lower dimensional space times. This was originally proposed [1, 2, 3] in the context of a duality between Type IIB String Theory in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and four dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4 SU(N)$ Super Yang Mills Theory in the large N limit. This duality can be extended to finite temperature by embedding a black hole in AdS_5 . A few of their results are reviewed below.

This duality was discovered by taking the low energy limit of D3 branes in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ where the field theory on the brane effectively decouples from the bulk. This means that the behaviour of the D branes is effectively governed by the field theory that lives on them. Alternatively the geometry generated by N coincident D3 branes in the near horizon limit consists of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ near the branes surrounded by a horizon which is connected to the rest of the geometry by an infinite throat. As the horizon can never be reached from outside the infinite throat the physics of the D branes has again effectively decoupled from the bulk. As the same system can be described by both $\mathcal{N} = 4 SU(N)$, and by Type IIB string theory in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ it was proposed that these two theories were duals. Additional evidence for this proposal was the matching of the symmetry groups of the two theories.

 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM is a supersymmetric theory which is conformally invariant and has two parameters, the 't Hooft coupling, λ , and the rank of the gauge group, N. They are related by

$$\lambda = g_{YM}^2 N. \tag{1}$$

According to the AdS/CFT correspondence they are related to the string tension $\frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'}$, the string coupling constant g_s , and the radius of curvature of the metric, R by

$$\sqrt{\lambda} = \frac{R^2}{\alpha'},\tag{2}$$

and

$$g_{YM}^2 = \frac{\lambda}{N} = 4\pi g_s. \tag{3}$$

If we take the large N limit with λ fixed, and only then take $\lambda \to \infty$, both α' and g_s will go to zero on the string side. Hence this duality is a strongweak duality. This is important because it allows quantities which could not be calculated in perturbation theory at strong coupling on the field theory side to be calculated perturbatively in string theory, and vice versa. This has enabled the computation of quantities such as the free energy [2, 4], shear viscosity [5, 6], R charge diffusion constant [6], and the Chern-Simons diffusion rate [7] for the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory via the AdS/CFT correspondence. These results differ from those calculated via perturbation theory at weak coupling, which is expected since supersymmetry is broken at finite temperature and there is therefore no non-renormalization theorem is expected to hold [8].

There is a one to one correspondence between every operator, \mathcal{O} in the field theory, and every bulk field, ϕ given by

$$\left\langle e^{\int \phi_0 \mathcal{O}} \right\rangle_{CFT} = \mathcal{Z}_{string} \Big|_{\phi = \phi_0}.$$
 (4)

 $Z_{string}|_{\phi=\phi_0}$ is the string partition function where ϕ is evaluated with the boundary condition $\phi|_{r=\Lambda} = \phi_0$. Equation (4) can be used as a generating functional for correlation functions, for example the two point Greens function for \mathcal{O} can be calculated by differentiating (4) twice with respect to the boundary field

$$G(x-y) = -i \langle T\mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O}(y) \rangle = \frac{\delta^2 \mathcal{Z}_{string}[\phi]}{\delta \phi(x)\delta \phi(y)} \Big|_{\phi=\phi_0}.$$
 (5)

The relationship between the dimension of the operator \mathcal{O} and the mass of the corresponding bulk field, ϕ is given by

$$\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{d}{2} \pm \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} + (mR)^2}.$$
(6)

The positive root of this equation is normally the one that needs to be used.

Since then it has been extended to other dualities between (non)asymptotically AdS space times and (non)conformal field theories. Two cases which will be of interest to us for the rest of this thesis are the Klebanov Polyakov correspondence between the O(N) vector model and a higher spin gauge theory [9] which we consider in section two, and gravity duals to non relativistic field theories [10, 11, 12] which we consider in sections three and four.

2 The Klebanov Polyakov Correspondence on a Squashed Three Sphere in the Limit $\alpha \rightarrow -1$

2.1 Introduction to the Klebanov Polyakov Correspondence

The AdS/CFT correspondence states that string theories in asymptotically AdS space times with d dimensions are dual to certain conformal field theories in d-1 dimensions [1, 2, 3]. Testing these dualities is in general difficult because the theories involved are very complicated and are only tractable in different limiting regions of parameter space. However in [9] Klebanov and Polyakov suggested that a simpler duality exists between the large N limit of the singlet sector of the critical O(N) vector model in three dimensions and the minimal bosonic higher spin gauge theory in four dimensional Anti de Sitter space.

Theories with an infinite number of massless high spin gauge fields in AdS_4 were first formulated in [13, 14]. In [9] it was noted that the spectrum of conserved singlet currents

$$J_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s} = \phi^a \partial_{(\mu_1}\dots\partial_{\mu_s)} \phi^a + \dots \tag{7}$$

for the simplest O(N) invariant theory at large N,

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3x \sum_{a=1}^{N} (\partial_{\mu} \phi^a)^2$$
 (8)

was precisely what was needed to match the spectrum of massless high spin gauge fields in the minimal bosonic theory in AdS_4 governed by the ho(1;0|4) algebra [15, 16]. Note that in (7) s is any even integer. This lead the authors of [9] to conjecture that the correlation functions for the singlet currents of the free O(N) model in three dimensions could be obtained as in the usual AdS/CFT correspondence via

$$\left\langle \exp \int d^3x h_0^{(\mu_1\dots\mu_s)} J_{(\mu_1\dots\mu_s)} \right\rangle = e^{S[h_0]}.$$
 (9)

Here $S[h_0]$ is the action of the high spin theory evaluated at the boundary, and $h_0^{(\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_s)}$ are the sources of the fields in the field theory.

The dimension of the correlation functions of $\phi^a \phi^a$ is one. Because this lies below d/2 it is necessary to use the negative solution for the equation relating the dimension of the operator to the mass of the dual gauge field in the bulk,

$$\Delta_{-} = \frac{d}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} + (mL)^2}.$$
(10)

We can see that in d = 3 to obtain $\Delta_{-} = 1$ we need $m^2 = -2/L^2$. This corresponds to a conformally coupled scalar in AdS_4 with the action, up to quadratic order in the field h given by

$$S = \frac{N}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \left[(\partial_{\mu} h)^2 + \frac{1}{6} R h^2 + \dots \right], \tag{11}$$

where the Ricci scalar, $R = -12/L^2$ in AdS_4 [9]. In [17] it was argued that when we are using the branch Δ_- the correct procedure for extracting the correlation functions is to calculate the generating functional $W[h_0...]$ with the normal dimension Δ_+ , and then to perform a Legendre transformation with respect to the source h_0 .

This lead to the question, what is the dual field theory for the case where the operator to have the more usual dimension, Δ_+ ? In [9] it was conjectured that the answer is the interacting critical O(N) model with the action

$$S = \int d^{3}x \left[\frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \phi^{a})^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2N} (\phi^{a} \phi^{a})^{2} \right].$$
(12)

In this theory the dimension of the operator $\phi^a \phi^a$ is 2+O(1/N), consistent with $\Delta_+ = 2$ in the large N limit. The anomalous dimension for the currents in (7) with spins greater than zero scale as 1/N [18] in this theory, so in the large N limit they should correspond to massless gauge fields in the bulk.

It was also noted in [9] that if a Legendre transformation is applied to the generating functional of the interacting O(N) theory with respect to the source h_0 , the result was the generating functional for the singlet current generators of the free theory. This is consistent with the general rule found in [17], that the generating functional for correlation functions in the theory with one choice of operator dimension is a Legendre transform of the one with the other choice.

Further evidence for this conjecture was found in [19] where the authors calculated the tree level three point functions of the minimal bosonic theory,

and found that they were in agreement with the correlation functions of the O(N) singlet sector. Also in [20, 21] it was shown that the cubic self coupling of the scalar field in the bulk was zero, which suggests that for the choice Δ_+ the three point function of the scalar operators in any dual CFT should vanish to leading order in 1/N. This is the case for the critical O(N) model in three dimensions.

2.2 The Klebanov Polyakov correspondence and The Squashed Three Sphere

In [22] an extension of this duality was proposed between the O(N) model on a squashed three sphere and the higher spin gauge theory on AdS Taub-Nut and AdS Taub-Bolt geometries with a phase transition occurring between the two on the gravitational side. In this case they considered the O(N) model with a conformal mass term so the theory would approach a free conformal fixed point in the UV, which corresponds to the asymptotically AdS part of the bulk. The squashed three sphere is an S^1 bundle over S^2 with metric

$$ds^{2} = \frac{a^{2}}{4} \left(\sigma_{1}^{2} + \sigma_{2}^{2} + \frac{\sigma_{3}^{2}}{1+\alpha} \right).$$
(13)

Where the σ_i are defined by:

$$\sigma_1 + i\sigma_2 = e^{-i\psi}(d\theta + i\sin\theta d\phi) \tag{14}$$

and

$$\sigma_3 = d\psi + \cos\theta d\phi. \tag{15}$$

The Ads Taub Nut metric may be written in terms of these co-ordinates as follows [22]

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{k^{2}(1-r^{2})^{2}} \left[\frac{4(1+\alpha r^{2})}{1+\alpha r^{4}} dr^{2} + r^{2}(1+\alpha r^{2})(\sigma_{1}^{2}+\sigma_{2}^{2}) + r^{2} \frac{1+\alpha r^{4}}{1+\alpha r^{2}} \sigma_{3}^{2} \right], (16)$$

where the radial co-ordinate runs from zero to one. k is related to the cosmological constant via $\Lambda = -3k^2$.

The scalar curvature of this space is

$$\frac{2(3+4\alpha)}{a^2(1+\alpha)},\tag{17}$$

and the volume is

$$Vol(M) = \frac{2a^3\pi^2}{(1+\alpha)^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
 (18)

The squashing parameter α lies in the range

$$-1 \le \alpha < \infty \tag{19}$$

with $\alpha = 0$ corresponding to the round three sphere. In the large α limit the squashed sphere approaches the direct product space $S^2 \times S^1$, and the periodicity of the S^1 fibre can be thought of as an inverse temperature. The limit $\alpha \rightarrow -1$ is the limit of extreme squashing which was not accessible analytically before, and this will be the main focus of this work. In this limit one of the dimensions becomes very large compared to the others and the field theory becomes effectively one dimensional.

This duality has the advantage compared to the usual string/gauge theory dualities in that the QFT is exactly solvable and can be compared to the semiclassical properties of Einstein's gravity in the absence of a proper formulation of the higher spin gauge theories in AdS Taub-Nut and AdS Taub-Bolt space times. It is useful to solve the O(N) model on a squashed three sphere because it provides a one parameter family of field theory/ gravity dualities, whose free energies exhibit a non monotonic behaviour as a function of the squashing parameter as argued in [22].For other related works on the O(N)model and the Klebanov-Polyakov duality, see [20, 23, 24].

The squashed three sphere is the conformal boundary of AdS Taub Nut and AdS Taub Bolt geometries [25, 26]. As in the canonical example of the Hawking Page transition [27], only one of these two geometries dominates the partition function. In particular, as a function of α , there is a Hawking-Page transition from AdS Taub-Nut to AdS Taub-Bolt, the latter dominating for large α . In [28, 29] the action of AdS Taub-Nut was found to be:

$$I_{TN} = -\frac{6\pi}{GR} \frac{(1+2\alpha)}{(1+\alpha)^2}$$
(20)

where G is Newton's constant and R is the Ricci scalar which is negative in these backgrounds. For AdS Taub-Bolt the corresponding result is:

$$I_{TB} = \frac{24\pi}{RG} (1+\alpha)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (m_b + \frac{3}{4}r(1+\alpha)^{-1} - r^3)$$
(21)

with

$$m_b = \frac{1}{2}r + \frac{1}{8r}(1+\alpha)^{-1} + \frac{1}{2}(r^3 - \frac{3}{2}r(1+\alpha)^{-1} - \frac{3}{16r}(1+\alpha)^{-2})$$
(22)

and

$$r = \frac{1}{6}(1+\alpha)^{\frac{1}{2}}(1+(1-12(1+\alpha)^{-1}+9(1+\alpha)^{-2})^{\frac{1}{2}})$$
(23)

In the limit of large α the AdS Taub-Bolt action grows linearly:

$$I = \frac{4\pi}{9GR} \alpha \qquad \alpha \to \infty \tag{24}$$

AdS-Taub-Nut space can be obtained by filling the volume of a squashed three sphere with a hyperbolic metric with negative cosmological constant [30]. In the limit $\alpha \to -1$ the space becomes a Bergmann space which can be described as a coset space SU(2,1)/U(2) which has been studied in [31]. It would be interesting to understand the behaviour of the action from the bulk perspective by considering higher spin gauge fields on this Bergmann space. For a detailed construction of bulk-boundary and bulk-bulk propagators in this space see [32]. Other work in AdS Taub Nut space is contained in [33, 34, 35].

The action of the O(N) model was calculated in [22] for $\alpha > -\frac{8}{9}$ and is shown in Fig 1 below, and the result for the gravitational side is shown in Fig 2, where the action has been normalised so that it agrees with the field theory results at large α and a constant has been added so that the peaks coincide. They found a close agreement between the results for the O(N) model and AdS Taub-Nut space below a critical value of α and with AdS Taub-Bolt above it, but with a smooth crossover between the two which suggests that the higher spin gauge fields have the effect of smoothing out the phase transition.

In [22] the large α behaviour of the QFT action at strong coupling was found to be:

$$I_{a\lambda\gg1} = -\frac{N\zeta_R(3)}{10\pi^2}\alpha\tag{25}$$

We have extended the work in [22] to the limit $\alpha \to -1$, and in this limit we find from the O(N) model:

$$I_{a\lambda\gg1} = \left(\frac{\ln(1+\alpha)}{3(1+\alpha)^2} + \frac{0.0614093}{(1+\alpha)^2}\right)N$$
(26)



Figure 1: The action $\frac{I}{N}$ of the O(N) model at strong coupling as a function of α .



Figure 2: The Gravitational action as a function of α .

The results (25) and (26) are to be compared and contrasted with (24) and (20).

It can be seen that the qualitative behaviour of the free energy of the O(N) model as $\alpha \to -1$ and at large α closely reproduces the results of semiclassical gravity, the logarithmic deviation in the leading order term in the limit $\alpha \to -1$ is a prediction of the effect of including the higher spin gauge fields in addition to gravity. Interestingly there appears to be no a priori reason why the results for the higher spin gauge theory should be so close to the gravitational result, though these results suggest that the effects of the higher spin gauge fields cannot be drastic.

In section 2.3 we summarise some useful results from the O(N) model and in section 2.4 we describe the calculation in more detail. Section 2.5 contains a discussion and summary.

2.3 O(N) Model in the Large N Limit

The O(N) model has been extensively studied in various dimensions e.g. see [22, 36]. The interacting O(N) model is a conformal theory, which in Euclidean space has the classical action,

$$S = \int dx^D \sqrt{g} \left(\frac{1}{2} \nabla \Phi \cdot \nabla \Phi + \frac{1}{2} m^2 \Phi \cdot \Phi + \frac{\lambda}{4N} (\Phi \cdot \Phi)^2 \right).$$
(27)

 Φ is a set of N scalar fields that transform as a vector under O(N) rotations. The N dependence of (27) will ensure that this theory has a well defined large N limit. The coupling constant λ flows from a free fixed point in the UV to an interacting fixed point in the IR. This model can be solved exactly in the strictly large N limit by deriving an effective potential. This can be done by defining an auxiliary scalar field

$$\sigma = \frac{\Phi.\Phi}{N},\tag{28}$$

and rewriting the action in the form

$$S = \int dx^D \sqrt{g} \left(\frac{1}{2} \nabla \Phi \cdot \nabla \Phi + \frac{1}{2} (m^2 + \lambda \sigma) \Phi \cdot \Phi - \frac{\lambda N}{4} \sigma^2 \right)$$
(29)

A homogenous background expectation value ϕ is then introduced for the O(N) field which is then split into a VEV and fluctuations as follows:

$$\Phi = (\sqrt{N}\phi + \delta\phi, \pi_1, \pi_2, \dots, \pi_{N-1}).$$
(30)

Here ϕ is the homogeneous background and $\delta \phi$ and $\vec{\pi}$ are the fluctuations around it. Normally this would break the O(N) symmetry to O(N-1) resulting in goldstone bosons, however as argued by [22] in these circumstances the symmetry is not broken because the path integral includes an integration over the vacuum manifold which implies that symmetry breaking does not occur in a compact space. By making this choice of fields we have effectively moved over into polar co-ordinates, where $\sqrt{N}\phi$ is the effective radial co-ordinate. When we integrate over the other co-ordinates the partition function picks up an extra term corresponding to the volume of the vacuum manifold O(N)/O(N-1).

$$\frac{2\pi^{\frac{N-1}{2}}}{\Gamma([N-1]/2)} \left(N^{\frac{1}{2}\phi}\right)^{N-1} = \left(\phi\pi^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)^N = \exp\left[\left(\frac{N}{2}\left[1+\ln\pi+\ln\left(\frac{\phi^2}{\mu}\right)\right]\right). (31)$$

We have introduced the arbitrary scale μ here so that the arguments of the logarithms are dimensionless. Integrating over the π fluctuations (the

contribution from $\delta \phi$ is subleading in the large N limit), including the above term yields the result

$$\frac{V_{\text{eff}}(\phi,\sigma)}{N} = \frac{1}{2}(m^2 + \lambda\sigma)\phi^2 - \frac{\lambda}{4}\sigma^2 + \frac{1}{2\text{Vol}(M)}\ln\det\left(\frac{-\Box + m^2 + \lambda\sigma}{\mu^2}\right) - \frac{1}{2\text{Vol}(M)}\left(1 + \ln\pi + \ln\frac{\phi^2}{\mu}\right).$$
(32)

Here $\operatorname{Vol}(M)$ is the volume of the manifold on which the field theory is formulated. In the present context M represents the squashed three sphere. μ is a dimensional scale which is like the sliding renormalization scale. The prime in det' indicates that the integration was not done over the constant mode which is then dealt with separately. In the large N limit only the configuration obtained by extremising (32) contributes to the partition function. Minimising the effective potential with respect to ϕ and σ yields the equations:

$$\phi^2(m^2 + \lambda\sigma) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(M)}$$
(33)

and

$$\phi^2 - \sigma + \frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(M)} \operatorname{Tr}'\left(\frac{1}{-\Box + m^2 + \lambda\sigma}\right) = 0.$$
(34)

An "effective pion mass" corresponding to the mass of the π fluctuations can then be defined:

$$m_{\pi}^2 = m^2 + \lambda \sigma \tag{35}$$

so that equations (33) and (34) can be rewritten as a gap equation for m_{π}^2

$$m_{\pi}^2 = m^2 + \frac{\lambda}{\operatorname{Vol}(M)} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-\Box + m_{\pi}^2}\right)$$
(36)

where the constant mode has been absorbed into the above. If the O(N) model was in a symmetry broken phase we would expect m_{π}^2 to vanish by Goldstones theorem, and we would have N - 1 massless goldstone bosons, however it can be seen from equations (33) and (35) that this would require either Vol(M) or ϕ^2 would have to be infinite. If ϕ^2 is infinite then the coupling would have to be set equal to zero, therefore the O(N) model can only be realised on a finite compact manifold, with a non zero coupling in a symmetric phase.

Once (36) has been solved the effective potential can be evaluated at the extremum to give the action:

$$S = \frac{N}{2} \Big(-\frac{\text{Vol}(M)}{2\lambda} (m^2 - m_{\pi^2}^2) + \ln \det \frac{-\Box + m_{\pi}^2}{\mu^2} + \ln(\mu^3 \text{Vol}(M)) \Big).$$
(37)

It can be seen that the only effect of the arbitrary scale μ is to add a constant to the action. To evaluate (36) it is necessary to evaluate the trace. This can be done by the method of zeta function regularisation. The zeta function for an elliptic operator A is defined by

$$\zeta(s) = \text{Tr}A^{-s} \tag{38}$$

so that

$$\ln \det \frac{-\Box + m_{\pi}^2}{\mu^2} = -\lim_{s \to 0} \frac{d}{ds} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{-\Box + m_{\pi}^2}{\mu^2} \right)^{-s} = -\zeta'(0), \quad (39)$$

and

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{1}{-\Box + m_{\pi}^{2}}\right] = \frac{1}{\mu^{2}} \lim_{s \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{ds}}(\mathrm{s}\zeta(\mathrm{s}+1)).$$
(40)

The zeta function on the squashed three sphere can be written in the form [37, 38, 39]

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{q=0}^{l-1} \frac{l(a\mu)^{2s}}{(l^2 + \alpha(l-1-2q)^2 + a^2m_{\pi}^2 - 1)^s},$$
(41)

The self-consistent gap equation which determines the solution of the model is highly non trivial for two reasons. Firstly, it is a non linear equation for m_{π}^2 . Secondly, it involves a zeta function, namely $\zeta_{m_{\pi}^2}(1)$ which is a complicated object and needs to be defined via analytic continuation.

In addition to these ingredients, we need to specify the coupling constant of the theory λ which is dimensionful. The relevant dimensionless parameter is the combination $a\lambda$. Since λ is a relevant coupling in three dimensions, $a\lambda << 1$ is the weak coupling limit corresponding to taking the sphere size to be small., thus approaching the UV fixed point.

We will be primarily interested in the strong coupling limit $a\lambda \to \infty$ which corresponds to the IR fixed point of the theory on the squashed sphere. In this limit, a drastic simplification of the gap equation occurs, allowing us to solve the problem analytically in the $\alpha \to -1$ limit. The gap equation at strong coupling (36) determines m_{π}^2 to be a zero of $\zeta_{m_{\pi}^2}(1)$. The results of [22] provide evidence that the resulting value of m_{π}^2 is finite and non-negative for all allowed values of the squashing parameter α .

We will now evaluate the action of the theory in the $\alpha \to -1$ limit, at strong coupling $a\lambda \to \infty$. The fact that m_{π}^2 has a finite value determined by the zero of $\zeta_{m_{\pi}^2}(1)$, implies that the first term in (37) is zero at strong coupling. The volume term will finally be found to give a subleading contribution to the action. The dominant contribution in the $\alpha \to -1$ limit therefore is: $-\frac{N}{2}\zeta'(0)$. As this is superficially divergent it needs to be analytically continued by methods described in the section 2.5.

2.4 The O(N) model as $\alpha \to -1$

The zeta function (41) is superficially divergent, but a finite value may be obtained by analytically continuing the sum, firstly by applying the Abel-Plana formula, and then by carrying out a Sommerfield Watson transformation which is described in more detail in the next section. We find:

$$\frac{\zeta(s)}{\mu^{2s}} = \frac{a^{2s}A}{(1+\alpha)^s} + a^{2s} \int_0^1 \frac{B(y)dy}{(1+\alpha y^2)^s} - \frac{2ia^{2s}}{(1+\alpha)^s} \int_0^\infty \frac{C(y)dy}{1+\exp(2\pi y)}$$
(42)

Where the functions A, B, C are defined in section 2.5. Using this result we find that the zeta function in the limit $\alpha \to -1$, is given by:

$$\zeta'(0) = -\frac{\ln(1+\alpha)}{3(1+\alpha)^2} - \frac{10}{9(1+\alpha)^2} - \frac{2\ln 2}{3(1+\alpha)^2} + \int_0^\infty \frac{16y\ln(1+4y^2) - 8(4y^2-1)\tan^{-1}2y}{\exp(2\pi y) - 1} dy.$$
(43)

This then evaluates to:

$$I = \frac{N}{2} \left(\frac{\ln(1+\alpha)}{3(1+\alpha)^2} + \frac{0.0614093}{(1+\alpha)^2} \right).$$
(44)

The above argument relies on $a^2 m_{\pi}^2$ being finite in this limit, though this was not calculable by this method the numerical results in [22] indicate that it approached zero in this limit.

2.5 Analytic continuation of the zeta function

As (41) is divergent if s is set directly to zero it will need to be continued analytically. This was done by converting the sum over q into an integral using the Abel-Plana formula and evaluating the l summation using a Sommerfield-Watson transformation. (41) has branch cuts at

$$q = \frac{l-1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1-l^2 - a^2 m_\pi^2}{\alpha}\right)^{1/2},\tag{45}$$

with these branch cuts the Abel-Plana formula of the form (46) may be used to evaluate the l sum.

$$\sum_{i=n}^{m} \phi(x) = \frac{1}{2}(\phi(n) + \phi(m)) + \int_{n}^{m} \phi(x)dx - i\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dy}{\exp(2\pi y) - 1} \left(\phi(n - iy) - \phi(n + iy) - \phi(m - iy) + \phi(m + iy)\right).$$
(46)

Using this we obtain:

$$\frac{\zeta(s)}{\mu^{2s}} = \frac{a^{2s}A}{(1+\alpha)^s} + a^{2s} \int_0^1 \frac{B(y)dy}{(1+\alpha y^2)^s} - \frac{2ia^{2s}}{(1+\alpha)^s} \int_0^\infty \frac{C(y)dy}{\exp(2\pi y) - 1} \,, \quad (47)$$

where:

$$A = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{l}{((l+G)^2 - h^2)^s},$$
(48)

$$B = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{l(l-1)}{((l+I)^2 - J^2)^s},$$
(49)

$$C = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} l \left(\frac{1}{((l+K)^2 - M^2)^s} - \frac{1}{((l+K^*)^2 - (M^2)^*)^s} \right).$$
(50)

Here G, H, I, J, K, M are given by:

$$G = \frac{-\alpha}{1+\alpha} \tag{51}$$

$$-H^2 = \frac{a^2 (m_\pi)^2 (1+\alpha) - 1}{(1+\alpha y^2)^2},$$
(52)

$$I = \frac{-\alpha y^2}{(1 + \alpha y^2)},\tag{53}$$

$$-J^{2} = \frac{a^{2}m_{\pi}^{2}(1+\alpha y^{2})-1}{(1+\alpha y^{2})^{2}},$$
(54)

$$K = \frac{\alpha(-1+2iy)}{1+\alpha},\tag{55}$$

$$-M^{2} = \frac{a^{2}m_{\pi}^{2} - 1 + \alpha(-1 + 2iy)}{1 + \alpha} - \frac{\alpha^{2}(-1 + 2iy)^{2}}{(1 + \alpha)^{2}},$$
 (56)

The sums over l can be evaluated using a Sommerfield-Watson transformation. Apply this to the A we find

$$A = \frac{i}{2} \int_{C_1} \frac{z \cot \pi z dz}{((z+G)^2 - H^2)^s},$$
(57)

where the contour C_1 is shown in figure three. For $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 2$ this can be deformed into C_2 , also shown in figure three.



Figure 3: The contours used for the analytic continuation of the zeta function. untitled folder

It is useful to rewrite $\cot \pi z$ with the identities

$$\cot \pi z = i \left(1 + \frac{2}{\exp 2i\pi z - 1} \right), \tag{58}$$

between z_1 and z_2 and

$$\cot \pi z = i \left(-1 + \frac{2}{1 - \exp(-2i\pi z)} \right), \tag{59}$$

between z_2 and z_3 .

The integrals over the exponential pieces are then manifestly finite and can be evaluated along C_3 . The integrals over the constant pieces can be done analytically for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 2$. These expressions are then evaluated at s = 0 to define the analytically continued function. A similar method is used for B and C. In the case of C the branch points are not on the real axis so the integrals are no longer along the real axis but along a tilted contour. Using this method the following results are obtained in the limit α tends to minus one.:

$$A|_{s=0} = \frac{1}{(1+\alpha)^2},$$
(60)

$$\frac{d}{ds}A\mid_{s=0} = \frac{2\ln(1+\alpha)}{(1+\alpha)^2} + \frac{3}{(1+\alpha)^2} - \frac{2\ln 2}{(1+\alpha)^2},$$
(61)

$$\int_0^1 B|_{s=0} \left(2\ln a - \ln(1+\alpha y^2)\right) = -\frac{4\ln a}{3(1+\alpha)^2} + \frac{1}{3(1+\alpha)^2} + \frac{2\ln(1+\alpha)}{3(1+\alpha)^2}, \quad (62)$$

$$\int_0^1 \frac{dB}{ds} \mid_{s=0} = \frac{4\ln(1+\alpha)}{3(1+\alpha)^2} - \frac{10}{9(1+\alpha)^2} - \frac{4\ln 2}{3(1+\alpha)^2}$$
(63)

$$C|_{s=0} = -\frac{8yi}{(1+\alpha)^2},$$
(64)

$$\frac{dC}{ds}|_{s=0} = \frac{2i}{(1+\alpha)^2} \left(4y(-7+8\ln 2 - 4\ln(1+\alpha) + 2\ln(1+4y^2)) - 4(4y^2-1)\tan^{-1}2y \right).$$
(65)

Putting the above together gives:

$$\zeta'(0) = -\frac{\ln(1+\alpha)}{3(1+\alpha)^2} - \frac{10}{9(1+\alpha)^2} - \frac{2\ln 2}{3(1+\alpha)^2} + \frac{1}{(1+\alpha)^2} \int_0^\infty \frac{16y\ln(1+4y^2) - 8(4y^2-1)\tan^{-1}2y}{\exp(2\pi y) - 1} dy.$$
(66)

The integrals can then be evaluated numerically.

2.6 Summary and Discussion

We have solved the strongly coupled O(N) model exactly in the limit $\alpha \to -1$ and found a soft logarithmic deviation from the results of semiclassical gravity in this regime. It is surprising that the singularity structure in this limit is so similar to that of classical gravity on AdS-Taub-Nut space. The anomalous logarithmic deviation can only be explained within the confines of the Klebanov-Polyakov conjecture as being due to the affects of the higher spin gauge fields. There appears to be no simple physical explanation for the behaviour of the action in this limit, but it would be interesting to see if it is because in the $\alpha \rightarrow -1$ limit one the field theory becomes effectively one dimensional.

In the other extreme of the allowed range of α , namely at large α , it is evident from (24) and (25) that classical gravity and boundary field theory are qualitatively similar. This is not very surprising, since at large α , the boundary theory can be reinterpreted as being at a finite temperature given by α . The linear scaling of the action with α , and equivalently the free energy scaling as α^2 , is what one expects in a field theory in three dimensions. Nevertheless, from this we learn, assuming the validity of the Klebanov-Polyakov conjecture, that the higher spin gauge theory dual to the O(N) model at large squashing, should behave in qualitatively the same fashion as Einstein gravity in AdS-Taub-Bolt space. We remak that the coefficients for the field theory (25) and gravity (24) actions are not expected to match as the higher spin gauge fields were not included in the calculation. In any case, matching of these coefficients only sets up a dictionary between $\frac{1}{N}$ in field theory and the bulk curvature in units of the 4d planck mass. The above discussion compares with the AdS_5/CFT_4 case where doing a strongly coupled field theory calculation is difficult and there is a 3/4 discrepancy factor between the strong and weak t'hooft coupling results due to higher stringy modes becoming light at large string scale curvatures in the string dual of the weakly coupled gauge theory.

The analytic results we have obtained for the strongly coupled field theory near $\alpha \to -1$, when combined with the linear behaviour at large α , reproduce remarkably well the non-monotonic behaviour of the classical bulk gravity action presented in Figure 2. Note that the non-monotonic behaviour in the bulk (without higher spin fields) is due to a Hawking-Page transition which is necessary in order to pass over from the Ads-Taub-Nut to the AdS-Taub-Bolt phase, the latter showing a linear behaviour with α at large α . The message is that even though we don't have a proper formulation of the higher spin theory in these backgrounds, our results suggest that gravity reproduces qualitatively similar results to the higher spin gauge theory dual to the O(N) model.

3 Introduction to Non Relativistic AdS/CFT

The standard AdS/CFT correspondence is a set of dualities between string theories and relativistic quantum field theories in d dimensions and relativistic quantum field theories in d-1 dimensions. However there are many important physical systems which are governed by non relativistic field theories such as fermions at unitarity, superconductors, atomic and nuclear physics. As many of these phenomenon occur at strong coupling they cannot be calculated by perturbation theory in the QFT. It would therefore be desirable to see if it could be calculated in some string theory as is the case for relativistic field theories.

In non relativistic field theories there is an additional conserved quantity in addition to the energy, namely the particle number. As such we would expect a d dimensional string theory to be dual to a d-2 dimensional non relativistic field theory, with the extra dimension being dual to the particle number.

One of the most important pieces of evidence for the AdS/CFT correspondence is the matching of the asymptotic symmetry group of the metric and the symmetry group of the field theory. For a non relativistic field theory this is the *d* dimensional Schrodinger algebra. This contains the group of translations(P_i), rotations(M_{ij}), Galilean invariance(K_i), time translations(H), and scale invariance. The standard Galilean algebra can be extended to a non relativistic conformal group by adding a dilaton operator, D, and a number operator N with the non trivial commutation relations

$$[D, P_i] = iP_i, \quad [D, K_i] = i(1-z)K_i \quad [D, H] = izH [D, N] = i(2-z) \quad [P_i, K_j] = -\delta_{ij}N$$
(67)

z is the dynamical exponent which defines the scaling between the dimensions of time and length, $time = length^z$. The special case z = 2 corresponds to the Schrodinger algebra, in this case it is possible to extend the symmetry group by adding another generator, C with the commutation relations

$$[C, P_i] = iK_i \quad [D, C] = 2iC \quad [H, C] = iD$$
 (68)

Geometries consistent with this symmetry group without a black hole were proposed in [40, 41], with a metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} \left(-\frac{dt^{2}}{r^{2z}} + \frac{d\vec{x}^{2} + 2d\xi dt}{r^{2}} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} \right)$$
(69)

z is the dynamical exponent, the Schrodinger case corresponds to z = 2. Note that the ξ co-ordinate is an additional compact dimension. The metric (69) is manifestly invariant under translations and rotations in $d\vec{x}$, as well as translations in time. A form of scale invariance occurs if you make the transformations

$$x' = \lambda x, \quad t' = \lambda^z t, \quad r' = \lambda r, \quad \xi' = \lambda^{2-z} \xi.$$
 (70)

It is also invariant under a Galilean boost, providing the ξ coordinate transforms as

$$\xi' = \xi + \frac{1}{2}(2\vec{v}.\vec{x} - v^2t). \tag{71}$$

In [40, 41] it was found that this metric is consistent with coupling Einstein's gravity to a gauge field with a mass $m^2 = \frac{z(z+d)}{L^2}$ in the presence of a cosmological constant $\Lambda = \frac{(d+1)(d+2)}{L^2}$. In [42, 43] a solution was found with only a cosmological constant term present. This was obtained by taking the DLCQ of AdS_5 and the symmetry group was broken to the Schrodinger subgroup by a periodic identification. This is effectively the degenerate limit of the background considered in [40, 41].

The number operator, N can be identified with $i\partial_{\xi}$ [44]. Because the number operator is discreet this means that ξ must be compact, however it is also null from the point of view of the bulk geometry. This suggests that the dual field theory will have to undergo a discrete light cone quantisation which is gone into in more detail in the next section. It may look as though compactifying ξ will break boost invariance, however as pointed out in [44] the fact that ξ is null together with the commutator $[N, K_i] = 0$ prevents this from happening. Compactifying ξ might also introduce a conical singularity in the large r limit, however whenever when you go to non zero temperature by adding a black hole it will be found that this singularity will always be hidden by the event horizon, so temperature can act as an effective regulator in the infra red in the field theory.

It was found it [45] that the n point Green's function of an operator, O in any non relativistic field theory depends on the scaling dimension of the operator as well as the particle number N_0 . This should be true for any non relativistic field theory as this is what is needed to define a representation of the z = 2 Schrodinger algebra. The two point greens function for (69) was calculated in [41] for the case z = 2. They found

$$\left\langle O_1(x,t)O_2(0,0)\right\rangle \propto \frac{\Gamma(1-\nu)}{\Gamma(\nu)}\delta_{\Delta_1\Delta_2}\theta(t)\frac{1}{|\epsilon^2 t|^{\Delta}}e^{-ilx^2/2|t|},$$
 (72)

where θ is a step function, l is the momentum in the compact dimension, $\Delta_{i,j}$ are the scaling dimensions of the operators, and

$$\nu = \sqrt{\left(1 + \frac{d}{2}\right)^2 + l^2 + m^2}.$$
(73)

The number operators spectrum in theories dual to these geometries is the set of integers because it arises from the Kaluza-Klein modes in ξ . The conservation law for ξ momentum

$$l_1 + l_2 + \dots = l'_1 + l'_2 + \dots$$
(74)

is called "Bargmann's superselection rule on the mass" [46]. from the Schrodinger algebra it follows that the stress tensor commutes with the particle number, therefore the fluctuations of the dual to the stress tensor will have zero ξ momentum.

The geometry (69) is not invariant under time reversal, however it is invariant under

$$t \to -t, \quad \xi \to -\xi.$$
 (75)

As was pointed out in [44] this is consistent with the fact that time reversal is an antiunitary operator that acts like $T O_l \rightarrow O_{-l}$.

A geometry dual to a non relativistic field theory was found in [44, 12] by applying a Null Melvin twist to a black hole embedded in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and the results are reviewed in the next section.

3.1 Calculation of a Non Relativistic Metric via a Null Melvin Twist

Several gravity duals to non relativistic field theories have been calculated in [40, 41, 44, 12, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51]. One method outlined in [49] involves selecting an appropriate background of type IIB string theory and applying a boost, γ in a direction dy. A T duality is then applied along the direction dy. A twist is then applied of the form $d\phi \rightarrow d\phi + \alpha dy$, where α is the twist parameter and $d\phi$ is an isometry in the compact dimensions. Another T duality is then applied in the y direction, followed by a boost back to the original frame, $-\gamma$. Finally the limit $\alpha \to 0$, $\gamma \to \infty$ such that $\alpha \cosh \gamma = b$. This transformation is called the Null Melvin twist and preserves the event horizon of the black hole whilst altering the asymptotic in such a way that they are consistent with a dual to a non relativistic field theory. The curvature scalars are also left unchanged by this twist [44] which implies that the constraints on when supergravity is a reliable approximation are unchanged.

This procedure will work for any background of the form $AdS_n \times Y$ at the boundary, where Y is a compact space. We will now review this calculation for the case of a black hole in AdS_5 where Y is a S^5 , which we will use later to calculate Wilson Loops in these backgrounds in the next section. A version of this calculation was done in [12, 44].

The metric of a black hole in $AdS \times S^5$ is

$$ds^{2} = \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \left(-hdt^{2} + dy^{2} + dx_{2}^{2}\right) + h^{-1} \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2} dr^{2} + R^{2} d\Omega_{5}^{2}, \qquad (76)$$

where h is the black hole factor $1 - \left(\frac{r_h}{r}\right)^4$.

To do this calculation it will be necessary to pick out a direction in the S^5 to apply the twist to. A convenient way to do this is to parameterise the S^5 as a Hopf fibration over a P^2

$$ds_{S^5}^2 = ds_{P^2}^2 + (d\phi + A)^2.$$
(77)

Here $A = sin^2(\mu)\sigma_3$, and $d\phi + A$ is the vertical one form along the Hopf fibration.

The left invariant one forms of SU(3) can be parameterised as:

$$\sigma_1 = \frac{1}{2} (d\theta \cos(\psi) + d\rho \sin(\theta) \sin(\psi)), \tag{78}$$

$$\sigma_2 = \frac{1}{2} (d\theta \sin(\psi) - d\rho \cos(\psi) \sin(\theta)), \tag{79}$$

$$\sigma_3 = \frac{1}{2} (d\psi + d\rho \cos(\theta)). \tag{80}$$

In terms of these variables the $ds_{P^2}^2$ becomes

$$ds_{P^2}^2 = d\mu^2 + \sin^2(\mu)(\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2 + \cos^2(\mu)\sigma_3^2), \tag{81}$$

and the metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \left(-hdt^{2} + dy^{2} + dx_{2}^{2}\right) + h^{-1} \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2} dr^{2} + R^{2} \left(ds_{P^{2}}^{2} + (d\phi + A)^{2}\right).$$
(82)

In what follows the radial, dx_2^2 , and $ds_{P^2}^2$ terms remain unchanged and will be dropped for brevity. The truncated metric we will use is

$$ds^{2} = \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} (-hdt^{2} + dy^{2}) + R^{2}(d\phi + A)^{2}.$$
(83)

applying a boost in the y direction, $t \to ct - sy$, $y \to cy - st$ with $c = cosh\gamma$, and $c^2 - s^2 = 1$:

$$ds^{2} = \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \left(-dt^{2}(1-gc^{2}) + dy^{2}(1+gs^{2}) - 2dtdy(gcs) + R^{2}(d\phi + A)^{2}\right).$$
(84)

Performing a T duality along the y direction involves making the following changes:

$$g'_{yy} = \frac{1}{g_{yy}} \quad g'_{ay} = \frac{B_{ay}}{g_{yy}} \quad g'_{ab} = g_{ab} - \frac{g_{ay}g_{yb} + B_{ay}B_{yb}}{g_{yy}}$$
(85)

$$\Phi' = \Phi - \frac{1}{2} \ln g_{yy} \quad B'_{ay} = \frac{g_{ay}}{g_{yy}} \quad B'_{ab} = B_{ab} - \frac{g_{ay}B_{yb} + B_{ay}g_{yb}}{g_{yy}} \tag{86}$$

This gives the new metric

$$ds^{2} = -\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \frac{h}{1+s^{2}g} dt^{2} + \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{1+s^{2}g} dy^{2} + R^{2} (d\phi + A)^{2}.$$
 (87)

A non zero dilaton and B field are also generated

$$B = dy \wedge dt \left[\frac{gcs}{1 + gs^2} \right] \tag{88}$$

. .

$$\Phi = \Phi_0 - \frac{1}{2} \ln \left[(1 + gs^2) \left(\frac{r}{R} \right)^2 \right].$$
 (89)

We can now twist this metric by shifting the one form $d\phi \to d\phi + \alpha dy$. The metric then becomes

$$ds^{2} = -\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \frac{h}{1+s^{2}g} dt^{2} + R^{2}(d\phi + A)^{2} + \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2} \frac{1+r^{2}\alpha^{2}(1+gs^{2})}{1+gs^{2}} dy^{2} + 2\alpha R^{2} dy(d\phi + A).$$
(90)

The dilaton and B fields remain unchanged by this transformation. Note here that the parameter α has dimensions of inverse length. Performing the inverse T duality along dy gives the new fields

$$ds^{2} = -\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \frac{hr^{2}\alpha^{2} + 1 - c^{2}g}{1 + r^{2}\alpha^{2}(1 + gs^{2})} dt^{2} - \frac{2gcsr^{2}}{R^{2}(1 + (1 + gs^{2})r^{2}\alpha^{2})} dtdy + \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \frac{1 + gs^{2}}{1 + r^{2}\alpha^{2}(1 + gs^{2})} dy^{2} + R^{2} \frac{1}{1 + r^{2}\alpha^{2}(1 + gs^{2})} (d\phi + A)^{2}$$

$$B = \frac{r^{2}\alpha}{1 + (1 + gs^{2})r^{2}\alpha^{2}} (d\phi + A) \wedge (gcsdt + (1 + gs^{2})dy)$$
(92)

$$\Phi = \Phi_0 - \frac{1}{2}\ln(1 + (1 + gs^2)r^2\alpha^2)$$
(93)

Finally we need to boost back by $-\gamma$ to the original frame and take the limit $\alpha \to 0, c \to \infty$, with $\alpha c = b$, where b is a fixed finite constant with dimensions of inverse length. Most terms in the fields become zero in this limit and we are left with the string frame metric

$$ds^{2} = K^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \left[-(1+b^{2}r^{2})hdt^{2} - 2b^{2}r^{2}hdtdy + (1-b^{2}r^{2}h)dy^{2} + Kdx_{2}^{2}\right] \\ + \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2}h^{-1}dr^{2} + K^{-1}R^{2}\eta^{2} + R^{2}ds_{P^{2}}^{2}, \\ \Phi = -1/2\ln K, \\ B = K^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2}b(hdt + dy) \wedge \eta, \\ C_{4} = \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{4}dt \wedge dx \wedge dy \wedge dz, \\ K = 1 - (h-1)b^{2}r^{2}.$$
(94)

In [44] it was shown that if we change co-ordinates to $t' = (y+t)/\sqrt{2}$ and $\xi = (y-t)\sqrt{2}$, take the near horizon limit, and compactify the S^5 the geometry (69) is recovered for the case z = 2.

The five form flux, C_4 is not affected by the twist $d\phi \to d\phi + \alpha dy$, because the T duality sends $d\Omega_5$ to $dy \wedge d\Omega_5$. The T dualities and boosts will therefore cancel each other out and leave us with the initial C_4 . In the above η^2 is short for $(d\phi + A)^2$. Note that in the limit $b \to 0$ this metric reduces to the original metric we had before starting the Null Melvin twist.

Following [12] it is possible to introduce light cone co-ordinates of the form

$$x^+ = bR(t+y),\tag{95}$$

and

$$x^{-} = \frac{1}{2bR}(t - y).$$
(96)

The angular part of the metric is unchanged by this and will be dropped in what follows:

$$ds^{2} = K^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \left[-\left(\frac{h-1}{(2bR)^{2}} + \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2}h\right) dx^{+2} - (1+h)dx^{+}dx^{-} + (bR)^{2}(1-h)dx^{-2} + Kdx_{2}^{2} \right] + \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2}h^{-1}dr^{2}$$

$$\Phi = -\frac{1}{2}\ln K \qquad (97)$$

$$B = K^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \frac{b}{2} \left(\frac{dx^{+}}{bR}(1+h) + 2bR(h-1)dx^{-}\right) \wedge \eta$$

$$C_{4} = \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{4}dx^{+} \wedge dx^{-} \wedge dx \wedge dz.$$

Note that this metric is independent of b in the extremal case, h = 1 suggesting that this is not a physical parameter in this case. It was suggested in [40] that x^- is a compact direction dual to the particle number in the corresponding field theory. This would give rise to a discreet mass spectrum, as expected in a non relativistic field theory. e.g. for fermions at unitarity the mass of any operator is an integer multiple of the mass of the elementary fermion. The x^+ co-ordinate can be interpreted as a time co-ordinate, except

in the extremal case when the g_{--} component vanishes.

The compactification scale is not fixed by the Null Melvin Twist, there is therefor a second distance scale, M_{-} , the size of the compact dimension.

Because of the non zero g_{+-} co-ordinate this geometry is not a static one. This can be interpreted as a rotation in the compact dimension. It will be convenient to shift to the co-rotating frame by making the coordinate change $dx^- \rightarrow dx^- + vdx^+$ and requiring that the g_{+-} component vanishes at the horizon. For

$$v = \frac{1}{2(bR)^2},$$
 (98)

$$ds^{2} = K^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \left[-h \left(\frac{1}{(bR)^{2}} + \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2}\right) dx^{+2} - 2h dx^{+} dx^{-} + (bR)^{2} (1-h) dx^{-2} + K dx_{2}^{2}\right] + \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2} h^{-1} dr^{2},$$

$$\Phi = -\frac{1}{2} \ln K,$$

$$B = K^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \frac{b}{2} \left(\frac{h}{bR} dx^{+} + 2bR(h-1) dx^{-}\right) \wedge \eta.$$

$$C_{4} = \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{4} dx^{+} \wedge dx^{-} \wedge dx \wedge dz.$$
(99)

In [12] it was pointed out that the angular momentum and angular velocity are normally identified with the charge and conjugate chemical potential of the system. In this case however, things are slightly more subtle because normally the chemical potential is defined to be the difference between the angular velocities at the horizon and boundary. As the angular velocity diverges at the boundary for this metric they could not make this identification, however they were able to show that defining the chemical potential to be the angular velocity at the horizon yielded a consistent entropy.

The g_{--} component in the extremal case is degenerate, suggesting that g_{++} is not a good choice of time co-ordinate in this case. This pathology is not co-ordinate dependant, for instance it manifests as the g_{yy} component becoming timelike at significantly large r in (94). This anomaly was pointed out in [11] where the authors suggested this was evidence that this geometry

was dual to a non relativistic field theory as they should allow action outside the light cone.

3.2 DCLQ'S

If a discreet light cone quantisation (DLCQ) procedure is applied to a relativistic field theory the result looks like a non relativistic field theory [52]. For example if you go over to light cone coordinates $p_{\pm} = E \mp p_1$ the mass shell condition becomes $p_{\pm} = \frac{\bar{p}^2 + m^2}{4p_-}$, if p_- is identified with the mass. Normally p_- would be a continuous variable, however if we compactify the x^- direction $x^- x^- + 2\pi r$ then p- can only take the values $\frac{-N}{r}$, where N is a positive integer. This procedure is called discrete light cone quantisation. It was noted in [53] that this breaks the symmetry group to those that commute with p_- , if the original field theory is conformal then this is the Conformal Schrodinger group. When doing a DLCQ you need to be careful how you treat the zero modes [54] because one of the dimensions has been compactified they are effectively described by a field theory in d-1 dimensions. Proposals for applying this procedure to N = 4 SYM are contained in [55, 56]. The DLCQ of several other theories was obtained in [52].

The relationship of solutions like (94) to the initial fields is not obvious, however following [44, 47] it is possible to make the relationship clearer. If we consider a DCLQ along the $\xi = (y - t)/\sqrt{2}$ direction, and by requiring all fields to be invariant under translations along ξ

$$\Phi(\xi + L_{\xi}) = e^{L_{\xi}J_{\xi}}\Phi(\xi) = \Phi(\xi).$$
(100)

Here L_{ξ} and J_{ξ} are the momentum generators in the ξ direction. This will generate a solution corresponding to $\beta = 0$. In the third step of a Null Melvin Twist the symmetry generators were effectively re-diagonalise by mixing the dy and $d\phi$ terms. This has the effect of sending the y momentum, J_y to $J_y - \alpha J_{\phi}$. Boosting back to the original frame, and taking the limit $\alpha \to 0, c \to \infty$, $\alpha c = b$ has the effect of turning the momentum into $J_{\xi} - \beta J_{\phi} = J_{\beta}$. The Null Melvin twist therefore effectively eliminates the modes of the original solution without a fixed light cone energy and momentum. We therefore expect (94) to be dual to the DCLQ of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM.

4 Wilson Loops in Non Relativistic AdS/CFT

4.1 Introduction to Wilson Loops

It is useful to calculate the expectation values of Wilson Loops because they contain gauge invariant information about the nonperturbative physics of non-abelian gauge theories. At high temperatures, where matter is in the quark-gluon plasma phase they can be related to several quantities measurable by heavy ion collision experiments such as the jet quenching parameter and the quark anti quark potential.

Wilson loops are defined as

$$W = \mathcal{P}\mathrm{Tr}\big(\exp\big[\mathrm{i}\int_{\mathrm{C}}\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}_{\mu}\mathrm{A}^{\mu}(\mathbf{x})\big]\big),\tag{101}$$

where the trace is over a SU(N) matrix in either the fundamental or adjoint representations. The vector potential can be expressed in terms of the generators of the appropriate representation $A^{\mu}_{a}(x)T^{a}$. Here \mathcal{P} indicates that this is a path ordered integral. For the quark anti quark potential this evaluates to

$$W = \exp[-i\mathcal{T}(E(L) - E_{ren})], \qquad (102)$$

where L is the inter quark distance, and E_{ren} is an infinite L independent regularisation. E(L) is measured in the $\mathcal{T} \to \infty$ limit, where the end effects may be neglected. The standard relation between the Euclidean Wilson loop and the static potential is recovered if $i\mathcal{T}$ is analytically continued to \mathcal{T} at zero temperature.[57]. When calculations are done in lattice QCD the inter quark potential is usually obtained from the correlation function of two Polyakov loops wrapped around an Euclidean periodic time coordinate [58, 59, 60, 61]. In these calculations the results were regularised by requiring that the zero temperature results match at short distances.

In some cases, such as in the high energy limit of scattering problems the Wilson Loop (101) becomes a real quantity. One such case occurs in the calculation of the jet quenching parameter. We will now give a brief overview of three cases where this parameter occurs in field theory. Other more detailed reviews of this material are contained in [62, 63, 64].

4.2 Virtual Photoabsorption Cross Section

In deep inelastic scattering processes the virtual photon does not have sufficient time to split into several soft particles. The most important part of it's wave function that interacts with the target nucleus is the $q\bar{q}$ component[65, 66, 67]

$$|\gamma^*\rangle = \int d^2(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}) dz \psi(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}, z) \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \delta_{\alpha \bar{\alpha}} |\alpha(\mathbf{x}), \bar{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}), z \rangle .$$
(103)

 $|\alpha(\mathbf{x}), \bar{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}), z > \text{is a } q\bar{q} \text{ state carrying an energy fraction } z \text{ at transverse}$ position \mathbf{x} . \mathbf{y} is the anti quarks transverse position, and it carries an energy fraction 1 - z. From this state the photoabsorption cross section has beeb calculated [62] in the eikonal approximation by squaring the difference between the outgoing and incoming state

$$\sigma^{DIS} = \int d^2 \mathbf{x} d^2 \mathbf{y} dz \psi(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}, z) \psi^*(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}) P_{tot}^{q\bar{q}}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}), \qquad (104)$$

$$P_{tot}^{q\bar{q}} = \left\langle 2 - \frac{1}{N} \text{Tr}[W^{\text{F}}(\mathbf{x})W^{\text{F}\dagger}(\mathbf{y})] - \frac{1}{N} \text{Tr}[W^{\text{F}}(\mathbf{y})W^{\text{F}\dagger}(\mathbf{x})] \right\rangle.$$
(105)

The cross section was then be expressed in terms of fundamental Wilson loops of the form

$$\frac{1}{N} < \mathrm{Tr}[W^{\mathrm{F}\dagger}(\mathbf{y})W^{\mathrm{F}}(\mathbf{x})] > \longrightarrow < W^{\mathrm{F}}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{lightlike}}) > = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{8}Q_{\mathrm{s}}^{2}L^{2}\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{N^{2}}\right).$$
(106)

The arrow indicates that two light like Wilson loops have been connected by two transverse lines located a long way from each other. The resultant rectangular Wilson loop gives us a gauge invariant formulation. Q_s is called the saturation scale and it is a characteristic property of any hadronic target. Roughly this means the photons probability of interacting with a target is almost one if it's transverse size, $L = |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}| > 1/Q_s$ and is negligible otherwise.

It is important to note that the exponential in (106) must have a real component because in the large L limit the interaction probability ought to approach one, this requires that $P_{tot}^{q\bar{q}} \rightarrow 2$ because in $P_{tot}^{q\bar{q}}(105)$ is the sum of both the elastic and inelastic scattering probabilities which are each normalised to one. This is impossible if the exponent in (106) is imaginary.

4.3 The Cronin Effect

When the results of proton-proton and proton-nucleus collision are analysed it is found that the transverse momentum is enhanced e.g see[68, 69, 70]. This is called the Cronin effect and is interpreted as being caused by the broadening of the momentum of the partons, before a high p_T parton is produced in a hard interaction. This process has been studied in [71, 72, 73, 74, 75] by calculating the gluon radiation induced by a quark interacting with a nucleus. In the eikonal approximation

$$\Phi_{out}^{\alpha} = W_{\alpha\gamma}^{F}(\mathbf{0})|\gamma\rangle + \int d\mathbf{x} f(\mathbf{x}) T_{\alpha\beta}^{b} W_{\beta\gamma}^{F}(\mathbf{0}) W_{bc}^{A}(\mathbf{x})|\gamma; c(\mathbf{x})\rangle .$$
(107)

Here Φ_{in}^{α} differs from Φ_{out}^{α} by a colour rotation with the Wilson lines, $W_{\alpha\beta}^{F}$ for the quarks, and W_{bc}^{A} for the gluons. **x** and **0** represent the transverse positions of the gluon and quark. Greek letters represent the fundamental indices, Latin letters are the adjoint indices.[62]. In order to calculate a quantity that can be measured experimentally such as the gluon production rate $dN/d\mathbf{k}$ we first identify the subspace orthogonal to the incoming state $|\delta\Phi\rangle = [1 - |\Phi_{in}\rangle \langle \Phi_{in}|]|\Phi_{out}\rangle$ and calculate the gluons in this state [63, 76]

$$\frac{dN}{d\mathbf{k}} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{\alpha,d} \langle \delta \Phi_{\alpha} | a_{d}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}) a_{d}(\mathbf{k}) | \delta \Phi_{\alpha}$$

$$= \frac{\alpha_{s} C_{F}}{2\pi} \int d\mathbf{x} d\mathbf{y} e^{i\mathbf{k}.(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y})} \frac{\mathbf{x}.\mathbf{y}}{\mathbf{x}^{2}\mathbf{y}^{2}} \frac{1}{N^{2}-1} \left[\langle Tr[W^{A\dagger}(\mathbf{y})W^{A}\mathbf{0}] \rangle \right]$$

$$- \langle Tr[W^{A\dagger}(\mathbf{x})W^{A}(\mathbf{0})] \rangle - \langle Tr[W^{A\dagger}(\mathbf{y})W^{A}(\mathbf{0})] \rangle$$

$$+ \langle Tr[W^{A\dagger}(\mathbf{y})W^{A}(\mathbf{x})] \rangle \right].$$
(108)

Where \mathbf{x} and \mathbf{y} are the gluons transverse positions. The only relevant information encoded in (108) is in the transverse dependence of two light like Wilson lines which are closed to form a loop

$$\frac{1}{N^2 - 1} < Tr[W^{A\dagger}(\mathbf{y})W^{(\mathbf{x})}] > \rightarrow < W^A(\mathcal{C}_{light}) > = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{4}\mathcal{Q}_s^2\mathcal{L}^2\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{N}^2}\right).$$
(109)

Note that the factor of two between (106) and (109) is consistent with the expected difference between fundamental and adjoint Wilson lines from the identity $\text{Tr}W^{\text{A}} = \text{Tr}W^{\text{F}}\text{Tr}W^{\text{F}} - 1$.

If we put this into (108) we find

$$\frac{dN}{d\mathbf{k}} = \frac{4\pi}{Q_s^2} \int d\mathbf{q} \exp\left[-\frac{\mathbf{q^2}}{Q_s^2}\right] \frac{\mathbf{q^2}}{\mathbf{k^2}(\mathbf{q}-\mathbf{k})^2}.$$
(110)

The above calculation was done without properly regulating the divergent integrals. A better parameterisations of the saturation scales, Q_s would include a logarithmic dependence on the transverse separation, L which would allow a proper regularisation to be performed [72, 76]. This is more complicated but in the final result Q_s^2 still governs the transverse momentum transferred from the medium to the parton. Q_s^2 depends on the target size, $Q_s^2 \propto A^{\frac{1}{3}}$, where A is the target size. It is convenient to separate this dependence on the path length [77] by defining

$$Q_s^2 = \hat{q} \frac{L^-}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (111)

 L^- is the light cone distance which is related to the longitudinal distance, z by $z = \frac{L^-}{\sqrt{2}} \hat{q}$ is the jet quenching parameter which is a measure of the average transverse momentum transferred to the parton per unit length. Unlike L^- we see that the jet quenching parameter is still well defined even in the $L^- \to \infty$ limit. It was pointed out in [64] that the ratio of the jet quenching parameters of two conformal theories was equal to the square route of their central charges, provided that they have a gravity dual.

4.4 BDMPS Energy Loss and the Jet Quenching parameter

Highly energetic partons produced in hard scattering experiments split up into multiple partons before undergoing hadronization. This shower interferes with the radiation produced by interactions with the medium which can resolve longitudinal distances in the target [78, 79, 80].

In the limit

$$E >> \omega >> |\mathbf{k}|, |q| = |\sum \mathbf{q_i}| >> T, \Lambda_{QCD}$$
(112)

the amplitude for a quark splitting into a quark and a gluon and a gluon splitting into two gluons was calculated in the Baier-Dokshitzer-Mueller-Peigne-Schiff calculation [78]. Here ω is the energy of the radiated gluon, **k** is the transverse momentum of the gluon, and **q** is the total transverse momentum acquired by scattering.

Alternatively in the BDMPS formalism 1/E corrections are kept to allow us to calculate interference effects. In order to do this Wilson lines are replaced by retarded Green's functions[79, 80, 81] of the form

$$G(x_{2}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{1}|p) = \int_{\mathbf{r}(x_{1}^{-})=\mathbf{r}_{1}}^{\mathbf{r}(x_{2}^{-})=\mathbf{r}_{2}} \mathcal{D}\mathbf{r}(x^{-}) \exp\left[\frac{ip}{2} \int_{x_{1}^{-}}^{x_{2}^{-}} dx^{-} \left(\frac{d\mathbf{r}(x^{-})^{2}}{dx^{-}}\right)^{2} - i \int_{x_{1}^{-}}^{x_{2}^{-}} dx^{-} dx^{-} A^{+}(x^{-}, \mathbf{r}(x))\right].$$
(113)

Here p is the momentum of the gluon and A^+ is the colour field, and the integration is done over all possible paths within the light cone. In the limit of an infinite boost this equation reduces to the Wilson loop of the form(101).

In the BDMPS formalism the energy distribution of the gluonic radiation emitted by a parton inside a medium may be expressed as the expectation values of pairs of green's functions of the form (113). After a highly technical calculation they may be written in the form [80]

$$\omega \frac{dI}{d\omega d\mathbf{k}} = \frac{\alpha_s C_R}{(2\pi\omega)^2} 2Re \int_{\xi_0}^{\infty} dy_l \int_{y_l}^{\infty} d\bar{y}_l \int d\mathbf{u} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{u}} exp\left[-\frac{1}{4} \int_{\bar{y}_l}^{\infty} d\xi \hat{q}(\xi) \mathbf{u}^2\right] \\
\times \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{y}} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{u}} \int_{y_l}^{\mathbf{u}=\mathbf{r}(\bar{y}_l)} d\mathcal{D}\mathbf{r} \exp\left[\int_{y_l}^{\bar{y}_l} d\xi \left(\frac{i\omega}{2}\dot{\mathbf{r}}^2 - \frac{1}{4}\hat{q}(\xi)\mathbf{r}^2\right)\right].$$
(114)

 C_R is the Casimir operator in the representation of the parton, ξ_0 is the position where the parton is created, y_l and \bar{y}_l are the longitudinal positions at which where a gluon is emitted in the amplitude and complex conjugate amplitude. See [63, 80] for more details. $\hat{q}(\xi)$ is the value of the jet quenching parameter at longitudinal position ξ . In our case of a static plasma this is just a constant. In [63] the authors were able to express this in terms of the jet quenching parameter defined in (111) by using similar identities to (110) where the Wilson loop is now evaluated in a hot plasma instead of a cold nucleus:

$$\langle W^A(\mathcal{C}_{light}) \rangle = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}}\hat{q}L^-L^2\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{N^2}\right)$$
 (115)

In the limit of large L^{-} (114) becomes [78, 82]

$$\omega \frac{dI}{d\omega} = \frac{\alpha_s C_R}{\pi} 2 \Re \ln \left[\cos \left((1+i) \sqrt{\frac{\hat{q} L^{-2}}{8\omega}} \right) \right]$$
(116)

This can then be integrated to give

$$\Delta E = \frac{1}{4} \alpha_s C_R \hat{q} \frac{L^{-2}}{2}.$$
 (117)

This tells us that the medium induced energy loss does not depend on E, but scales with the square of the path length. As the energy loss due to collisions is proportional to the path length this tells us that radiative energy loss is most important in the high energy limit. The BDMPS procedure is well defined, however the calculation of \hat{q} can only be done perturbatively in field theories if T is big enough for the physics to be perturbative at that scale. This makes it worthwhile to look for a method that can evaluate this quantity at strong coupling. For field theories with a gravity dual one such method involves doing a calculation in string theory and relating it to \hat{q} via the AdS/CFT correspondence.

4.5 Calculation of Wilson Loops in AdS/CFT via string theory

In string theory Wilson loops are evaluated by finding the minimal area of a string world sheet which intersects the boundary in a contour of the same shape as the contour used to evaluate the integral in the field theory[83, 84, 85, 86, 87]. The large N, strong coupling limit(i.e taking N to be large at fixed λ , and then taking $\lambda \to \infty$) of N = 4 SYM corresponds to taking the limit $g_s \to 0$ and $\alpha' \to 0$ in the dual string theory. String world sheet fluctuations can be neglected in this limit as the string tension is infinite. Interactions can also be neglected as the coupling constant is zero, so the problem reduces to finding the classical minimal surface bound by a contour.

This is done by introducing a probe D3 brane at the boundary to allow for strings to hang down from it. The Nambu-Goto action for the string world sheet is

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} \int d\sigma d\tau \sqrt{-\det g_{\alpha\beta}},\tag{118}$$

where

$$g_{\alpha\beta} = G_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\alpha}x^{\mu}\partial_{\beta}x^{\nu}.$$
 (119)

 $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the normal space time metric and $g_{\alpha\beta}$ is the induced metric on the string world sheet. The integral is over the string world sheet coordinates. The location of the string world sheet is then parameterised by

$$x^{\mu} = x^{\mu}(\tau, \sigma) , \qquad (120)$$

where τ and σ are the string world sheet coordinates.

4.6 Calculation of Wilson Loops in a Background Dual to a Non relativistic Field Theory

We have previously shown that a background dual to a non relativistic field theory is:

$$ds^{2} = K^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \left[-(1+b^{2}r^{2})hdt^{2} - 2b^{2}r^{2}hdtdy + (1-b^{2}r^{2}h)dy^{2} + Kdx_{2}^{2}\right] \\ + \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2}h^{-1}dr^{2} + K^{-1}R^{2}\eta^{2} + R^{2}ds_{P^{2}}^{2}.$$
(121)

Note that in these co-ordinates the system is already in the co-rotating frame. It can be seen from (121) that a static Wilson loop with a boundary in the x-z plane will be the same as the one calculated in the original theory.

We will now proceed to calculate the Wilson Loop corresponding to a quark anti quark pair moving through a plasma whilst separated by a distance L with this background; for the conventional $AdS_5 \times S^5$ black hole this calculation was done in [64]. The appropriate contour is an infinitely long rectangle in the temporal direction, with ends small compared to the length, so edge effects can be neglected. To do this it will be convenient to boost to the rest frame of the quarks. Without loss of generality we can assume that they are moving in the z direction. In this frame (121) becomes

$$ds^{2} = K^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2} \left[-\left(c^{2}(1+b^{2}r^{2})h - s^{2}K\right) dt^{+2} - 2b^{2}r^{2}chdtdy + (1-b^{2}r^{2}h)dy^{2} + 2cs((1+b^{2}r^{2})h - K)dtdz + 2b^{2}r^{2}shdydz + (Kc^{2} - s^{2}(1+b^{2}r^{2})h)dz^{2} + Kdx^{2} \right] + \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{2}h^{-1}dr^{2} + K^{-1}R^{2}\eta^{2} + R^{2}ds_{P^{2}}^{2},$$

$$(122)$$

where c is the usual lorentz boost factor.

The $B_{\mu\nu}$ field can be neglected because it's contribution to the action is of the form

$$S = \int d\tau d\sigma B_{\mu\nu} \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau} \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \sigma} - \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \tau} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma} \right).$$
(123)

As one part of the $B_{\mu\nu}$ field is always directed into the S^5 , and the string will only exist at a point in the S^5 one of these derivatives is always zero. The five form flux does not appear in the action and can therefore also be ignored. The S^5 will play no part in the following calculations, so we will drop it for brevity.

For simplicity we will first consider case where the quarks are separated in a direction orthogonal to the flow of the plasma. We can choose to parameterise our coordinates by

$$\tau = t, \tag{124}$$

$$\sigma = x \in \left[-\frac{L}{2}, \frac{L}{2}\right]. \tag{125}$$

The z coordinate, and the coordinates in the S^5 can be set to zero without loss of generality, and by symmetry

$$r = r(\sigma). \tag{126}$$

This yields the action

$$S = -\frac{\mathcal{T}}{2\pi\alpha'} \int_{-\frac{L}{2}}^{\frac{L}{2}} d\sigma \sqrt{\left[-g_{tt} \left(g_{xx} + g_{rr} \left(\frac{dr}{d\sigma} \right)^2 \right) \right]}$$
(127)

where \mathcal{T} is the infinite length of the rectangle in the time direction. As the Lagrangian in (127) has no explicit σ dependence, the Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{L} - r' \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial r'} = q \tag{128}$$

is conserved. Here q is the constant of integration, which is related to the separation between the quarks. Using this equation we find

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{g_{tt}g_{xx}}{q} \,. \tag{129}$$

It is then possible to rewrite (127) as

$$S = -\frac{\mathcal{T}}{2\pi\alpha'} \int_{-\frac{L}{2}}^{\frac{L}{2}} d\sigma \frac{-g_{tt}g_{xx}}{q} . \qquad (130)$$

In order to evaluate this action it will be convenient to switch to the dimensionless variables

$$r = r_h u, \quad b = \frac{\beta}{r_h}.$$
 (131)

In terms of the new variables $K = 1 + \frac{\beta^2}{u^2}$ and $h = 1 - \frac{1}{u^4}$. The metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = K^{-1} \left(\frac{ur_{h}}{R}\right)^{2} \left[-\left(c^{2}(1+\beta^{2}u^{2})h - s^{2}K\right) dt^{2} - 2\beta^{2}u^{2}chdtdy + (1-\beta^{2}u^{2}h)dy^{2} + 2cs((1+\beta^{2}u^{2})h - K)dtdz + 2\beta^{2}u^{2}shdydz + (Kc^{2} - s^{2}(1+\beta^{2}u^{2})h)dz^{2} + Kdx^{2} \right] + \left(\frac{R}{u}\right)^{2}h^{-1}du^{2} + K^{-1}R^{2}\eta^{2} + R^{2}ds_{P^{2}}^{2},$$
(132)

and the action

$$S = -\frac{\mathcal{T}}{\pi \alpha'} \int_0^{\frac{L}{2}} \frac{d\sigma}{q} \left(\frac{ur_h}{R}\right)^4 \left(c^2(1+\beta^2 u^2)hK^{-1} - s^2\right),$$
(133)

where we have taken advantage of the fact that $r = r(\sigma)$ is an even function to rewrite the integral as one over the range $0 - \frac{L}{2}$. Using (129) we find

$$\frac{du}{d\sigma} = \frac{\sqrt{g_{xx}(-g_{tt}g_{xx} - q^2)}}{q\sqrt{g_{uu}}},\tag{134}$$

and

$$S = -\frac{TT\sqrt{\lambda}}{r_h} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{q^2}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}}} = -TT\sqrt{\lambda} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \sqrt{\frac{K^{-1}h^{-1}(c^2(1 + \beta^2 u^2)h - s^2K)}{1 - \frac{\tilde{q}^2Kh}{(c^2(1 + \beta^2 u^2)h - s^2K)}}}.$$
(135)

Here we have rewritten α' in terms of the field theory quantity,

$$\sqrt{\lambda} = \frac{R^2}{\alpha'}.\tag{136}$$

. .

T is the Hawking temperature of the black hole,

$$T = \frac{r_h}{\pi R^2}.$$
(137)

When the metric is written in this form it is manifest that the action will only depend on the temperature and not either r_h or R separately. To do this we needed to fold a factor of R^4 in to the integration constant,

$$\tilde{q} = q \frac{R^2}{r_b^2}.$$
(138)

This action is too complicated to evaluate analytically so we will have to resort to numerical integration. In order to do this we will need to calculate q^2 as a function of u_{min} by using (134), and requiring that the derivative vanishes. This gives the result,

$$q^2 = -g_{tt}^0 g_{xx}^0, (139)$$

where by g_{tt}^0 and g_{xx}^0 we mean the fields evaluated at $u = u_{min}$. In this way we can think of u_{min} as an alternative integration constant to q.

We can then determine the distance separating the quark anti quark pair corresponding to this value of u_{min} using the equation

$$\frac{L}{2} = \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} d\sigma. \tag{140}$$

Using (134) this becomes

$$L = 2\sqrt{-g_{tt}^0 g_{xx}^0} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{g_{xx}(-g_{tt}g_{xx} + g_{tt}^0 g_{xx}^0)}},$$
(141)

and the action is

$$S = -\frac{TT\sqrt{\lambda}}{r_h} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{g_{tt}^0 g_{xx}^0}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}}}.$$
 (142)

Because $g_{tt}^0 g_{xx}^0$ is always greater than or equal to $g_{tt}g_{xx}$ over the integration range the action is guaranteed to be real and the string world sheet is timelike.

There is a singularity in these integrals at $u = u_{min}$, but because it is of the form $(u - u_{min})^{-0.5}$, L and the action remain finite. For any given value of c there is a maximum value of L for which this equation has a solution, which can be interpreted as the point where a bound quark anti quark pair can no longer exist under any circumstances and the only available state is that of two separate strings stretching from the boundary to the horizon. On the field theory side it is interpretation as the screening length. In [64, 88] the authors found that in $AdS_5 L$ scaled as

$$L_{max}(v) = \frac{L_{max}(0)}{\sqrt{\gamma}},\tag{143}$$

in the limit $\gamma \to \infty$. In our case this limit was not accessible analytically, but extensive numerical calculations indicated that it approached a constant in this case. For $\beta = 1$, $L_{max} = 0.448$. If β is also sent to infinity, $L_{max} \to 0.416$. As β approaches zero this constant term also approaches zero and the leading term is then given by (143).

It can be seen from (135) that the action has a quadratic and logarithmic divergence in u as $r \to \infty$ of the form

$$-\frac{TT}{2}\sqrt{\lambda}\left(\beta c\Lambda^2 + \frac{(1-c^2\beta^4)\log\Lambda}{\beta c}\right).$$
 (144)

To obtain a finite answer from the numerical integral it will be necessary to regulate this integral.

It was argued in [89], that because the strings satisfy Neumann boundary conditions in the radial co-ordinate and the S^5 , the correct action was the Legendre transformation of the action we have been considering. We can accomplish this by adding terms to the action of the form

$$-\int d\tau P_i Y^i \tag{145}$$

where Y^i are the co-ordinates in which the string has Neumann boundary conditions and

$$P_i = \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \partial_\sigma Y^i} \bigg|_{\Lambda}.$$
 (146)

In our case the only relevant term is

$$r \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \partial_{\sigma} r} \bigg|_{\Lambda}, \tag{147}$$

which evaluates to

$$\frac{TT}{2}\sqrt{\lambda} \bigg(\beta c\Lambda^2 + \frac{1 - c^2\beta^4}{2\beta c} + O(\Lambda^{-2})\bigg).$$
(148)

Whilst this will always cancel out the quadratically divergent term in the action, in our case there is also a logarithmic divergence which did not occur in the cases considered in [89]. This procedure will never be able to remove a logarithmic divergence because the action and hence $\partial_{\sigma}r$ can be expressed as polynomials in Λ at large r and differentiating this cannot give rise to a logarithm. Interestingly the coefficient of the logarithmic divergence is precisely half of the constant term in (148). In [64, 90, 91, 92] an alternative regularisation procedure was used which consisted of subtracting the action of two separate strings stretching from the boundary to a probe D3 brane located at u_0 , the root of the equation $g_{tt} = 0$. In the case we are considering this occurs when the integration constant, q = 0. This gives a corrected action of the form

$$S = \frac{TT\sqrt{\lambda}}{r_h} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{g_{tt}^0 g_{xx}^0}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}}}\right) + \frac{TT\sqrt{\lambda}}{r_h} \int_{u_0}^{u_{min}} du \sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}$$
(149)

When we apply this regularisation procedure to the action the results are finite as $\Lambda \to \infty$. It was found in [64] that after this regularisation procedure had been applied that the small distance behaviour of the inter quark potential is independent of velocity in normal AdS_5 space. On the field theory side this is effectively requiring that the potential is independent of medium at short distances, which is a method often used in Lattice Gauge Theory calculations [59]. A few of our results are shown in figures (4), (5) and (6) below.



Figure 4: Graph of $L \vee u_{min}$ for $\beta = 1$



Figure 5: Graph of $V(u_{min}) \vee u_{min}$ for $\beta = 1$



Figure 6: Graph of $V(L) \ge L$ for $\beta = 1$

A positive V indicates that the configuration has more energy than two isolated strings stretching from the boundary to u_0 . It can be seen from Fig (6) that for all c there is a critical value of L, which decreases with increasing c for which V does become positive for this configuration. Beyond this point we would therefore expect any string to decay into two isolated strings.

It can be seen from figure (4) that for a given L there are two values of u_{min} , and hence q associated with it. The one with the minimal energy is the one with the largest value of u_{min} . The other solution is presumably an unstable configuration which will either decay to the solution with largest u_{min} , or to two isolated strings.

Note that at large u_{min} , which is also at small L, L's dependence on velocity approaches zero for the upper branch. This is not however true of the action. This contrasts with the results of [64] where these Wilson loops were calculated in normal AdS space and it was found that the short distance potential was independent of velocity at small L for the upper branch.

It was noted in [92] that the subtraction was unique when the string was stationary in AdS_5 , corresponding to two stationary straight strings stretching from the boundary to u_0 . However for moving strings there were an infinite number of possible subtraction terms corresponding to string configurations which stretched from the boundary to u_0 , satisfied the equations of motion, and would yield a finite action. In [64] the authors subtracted the action of two stationary strings of the form

$$S = \sqrt{\lambda} \mathcal{T} T \int_{1}^{\Lambda} d\sigma.$$
 (150)

This is a velocity independent subtraction, and can be derived from the co-ordinate choice

$$t = \tau \quad r = \sigma \quad x = z = 0. \tag{151}$$

This yielded an action whose small L dependence was independent of velocity, and hence medium independent, which is the regularisation procedure used in lattice calculations[59]. We have used a different velocity dependent subtraction. This was necessary because the divergent terms in the action depended on the velocity. In [64] the authors noted that if a similar velocity dependent subtraction was considered in AdS_5 space then the small Lbehaviour of the potential for the upper branch is no longer velocity independent, however for the lower branch is, $V(L) \rightarrow 0$ as $L \rightarrow 0$. We can see from Fig (6) that we have a similar behaviour in our case.

4.7 The Light Like Limit

Previously we have taken the limit $\Lambda \to \infty$ whilst *c* remains finite. However some quantities such as the jet quenching parameter are calculated in string theory by taking the $c \to \infty$, whilst the probe D3 brane stays fixed, and only then taking the limit $\Lambda \to \infty$ [64]. As can be seen from (134) if this limit was consistent with a quark anti quark pair coming in from the boundary, reaching some minimal value of u, u_{min} in the bulk and then returning the minimal point would occur when u_{min} satisfied

$$q^{2} = K^{-1}(u_{min}) \left(\frac{u_{min}r_{h}}{R}\right)^{4} \left(c^{2}(1+\beta^{2}u_{min}^{2})h(u_{min}) - s^{2}K(u_{min})\right).$$
(152)

However this is only consistent with a finite integration constant if $u_{min} \rightarrow 0$, or if it approaches the positive root of the equation

$$c^{2}(1+\beta^{2}u_{min}^{2})h(u_{min}) - s^{2}K(u_{min}) = 0, \qquad (153)$$

which to leading order in c becomes

$$\beta^2 u_{min}^6 - 2\beta^2 u_{min}^2 - 1 = 0.$$
(154)

The only other positive root of (134) occurs at u = 1, however as the Lagrangian becomes imaginary when u is below the root of (153) this is inconsistent with the equation of motion (129), except in a special limit we will discuss later. This means the string must descend all the way to the root of (153), before heading out again. This contrasts with the behaviour found in [64], where in AdS_5 the only valid solution was a string stretching to the horizon and then returning to the boundary. The relationship between the integration constant can then be determined from

$$L = 2q \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{g_{xx}(-g_{tt}g_{xx} - q^2)}},$$
 (155)

and the action is

$$S = -\frac{\mathcal{T}T\sqrt{\lambda}}{r_h} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{q^2}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}}} \,. \tag{156}$$

To extract the jet quenching parameter as in [64] we need to consider the small L(which is also the small q limit), we will therefore expand (155) about q = 0 to give:

$$L = \frac{2qR^4}{cr_h^3} \int_{u_\beta}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{K}}{\sqrt{u^4 - 1}\sqrt{\beta^2 u^6 - 2\beta^2 u^2 - 1}} (1 + \mathcal{O}(q^2, c^{-2})), \qquad (157)$$

in the limit $c \to \infty$. u_{β} is the solution to (154). Note that this expansion is not valid in the case $\beta = 0$.

This integral cannot be evaluated analytically but it can be evaluated numerically to give

$$L = \frac{2qR^4}{cr_h^3} A(\beta), \tag{158}$$

where A is a number whose β dependence is shown in Fig 7.



Figure 7: $A(\beta)$ as a function of β .

Note that $A(\beta)$ approaches zero as β approaches infinity. If we look at the action in the same limit we get the result

$$S(q) = S_0 + q^2 S_1 + \mathcal{O}(q^4), \tag{159}$$

where,

$$S_0 = -\frac{TT\sqrt{\lambda}}{r_h} \int_{u_\beta}^{\Lambda} du \sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}},\tag{160}$$

and

$$S_1 = -\frac{TT\sqrt{\lambda}}{2r_h} \int_{u_\beta}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{g_{uu}}}{g_{xx}\sqrt{-g_{tt}}}.$$
(161)

This action will also need regularising when we take the limit $\Lambda \to \infty$. In the previous section we did this by subtracting a term of the form (160) from the action, and we can see that this will again produce a finite answer as it simply removes S_0 . To first order in c and q^2 the action then becomes

$$S = -\frac{TT\tilde{q}^2\sqrt{\lambda}A(\beta)}{2c} \tag{162}$$

For the original metric, before the Null Melvin twist is applied it was found in [64] that the string world sheet became space like due to the g_{tt} component becoming positive in this limit, however in our case g_{tt} will remain negative due to the $-b^2c^2u^2$ term so unlike the case considered in [64] our action will remain real in this limit and the string world sheet remains timelike. This means that the exponential of the action, e^{iS} will be purely imaginary and as has been remarked after (106) it is necessary for it to have a real component in order to get sensible results from scattering experiments.

This suggests that for the background we are considering the $c \to \infty$, followed by $\Lambda \to \infty$ is not a good limit from which to extract the jet quenching parameter. If *b* was set equal to zero the problem term would disappear, however if we do this directly we recover the original AdS space. If however we take the limit $c \to \infty$, $\beta \to 0$ such that the product $c\beta = d$ remains constant the string world sheet will become imaginary. In this limit the metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = K^{-1} \left(\frac{ur_{h}}{R}\right)^{2} \left[-\left((c^{2} + d^{2}u^{2})h - s^{2}K\right) dt^{2} - 2\frac{d^{2}}{c}u^{2}h dt dy + \left(1 - \frac{d^{2}}{c^{2}}u^{2}h\right) dy^{2} + 2cs\left(\left(1 + \frac{d^{2}}{c^{2}}u^{2}\right)h - K\right) dt dz + 2\frac{d^{2}}{c^{2}}u^{2}sh dy dz + \left(Kc^{2} - s^{2}\left(1 + \frac{d^{2}}{c^{2}}u^{2}\right)h\right) dz^{2} + K dx^{2}\right] + \left(\frac{R}{u}\right)^{2}h^{-1}du^{2}.$$
(163)

The action is now space like in this limit,

$$S = -i\frac{TT\sqrt{\lambda}}{r_h} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{g_{tt}g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{q^2}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}}}.$$
 (164)

This action can also be expanded in the form

$$S(q) = S_0 + q^2 S_1 + \mathcal{O}(q^4), \tag{165}$$

 S_{0} is removed once again by the regularisation procedure and we are left with

$$S_1 = \frac{i\mathcal{T}T\sqrt{\lambda}}{2r_h} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{g_{uu}}}{g_{xx}\sqrt{g_{tt}}},\tag{166}$$

where

$$u_{min} = \left(\frac{c}{d}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} - \frac{1}{6d^{5/3}} \left(\frac{1}{c}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} + \frac{(1+8d^4)}{24d^3} \frac{1}{c} - \frac{7+72d^4}{1296d^{13/3}} \left(\frac{1}{c}\right)^{\frac{5}{3}} + \mathcal{O}(c^{-7/3}).$$
(167)

As we are taking the limits $c \to \infty$, first followed by the $\Lambda \to \infty$, the lower limit of the integral in (166) will actually be larger than the upper one, this is clearly unphysical. This does however mean that a string can stretch from the boundary to the horizon before returning to the boundary in this limit. To leading order in c this gives us the same as the action in normal AdS_5 space, and yields the results [64]

$$q^2 S_1 = i \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{4})\sqrt{\lambda}\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}T^3}{8\Gamma(\frac{5}{4})} \mathcal{T}cL^2, \qquad (168)$$

which lead to the identification of the jet quenching parameter as

$$\hat{q} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}\Gamma(\frac{3}{4})}{\Gamma(\frac{5}{4})}\sqrt{\lambda}T^3.$$
(169)

One might think that the integral in (167) would make sense if we took Λ and c to infinity together in such a way that $c^{1/3}d^{-1/3} < \Lambda$. Whilst this is possible the integral is actually zero in this limit.

This means that the only limit in which a sensible non zero value can be obtained for the jet quenching parameter is in the limit where β is so small the theory is effectively the relativistic one we started with before applying the Null Melvin twist. If these results are interpreted via the standard AdS/CFT dictionary we are forced to conclude that the quark anti quark pair does not lose energy to the medium via jet quenching in the dual non relativistic field theory.

4.8 The Static Potential at arbitrary angles to the Plasma

We will now extend the previous calculation where the quark anti quark pair was orthogonal to the direction it was travelling in. The appropriate metric to use is still (132), however the string world sheet will now be parameterised as

$$t = \tau \quad z = \sigma; \quad x = x(\sigma) \quad u = u(\sigma). \tag{170}$$

If L is still defined to be the length of the quark anti quark pair, and the pair lie at an angle θ to the direction of the boost then σ will run between $\pm L/2\cos\theta$. We then have the boundary conditions

$$u\left(\pm\frac{L}{2}\cos\theta\right) = \Lambda,\tag{171}$$

and

$$x\left(\pm\frac{L}{2}\cos\theta\right) = \pm\frac{L}{2}\sin\theta.$$
 (172)

As the boundary conditions for $u(\sigma)$ are symmetric under $\sigma \to -\sigma$ it will be an even function which descends to some point, u_{min} at $\sigma = 0$ before returning to the boundary. Similarly because $x'(\sigma)$ depends only on the even function $u(\sigma)$ and the boundary condition for $x(\sigma)$ is antisymmetric under $\sigma \to -\sigma, x(\sigma)$ will be an odd function. Note that this parameterisation is not a good one for $\theta = \pi/2$ because then all parts of the string would have the same σ coordinate, however as the Nambu Goto action is reparameterisation invariant, and the action depends smoothly on L, c, and θ we would expect to recover the results of the previous section in the limit $\theta \to \pi/2$. In terms of this parameteristation the Nambu Goto action becomes

$$S = -\frac{\mathcal{T}}{2\pi\alpha'} \int_{-\frac{L\cos\theta}{2}}^{\frac{L\cos\theta}{2}} d\sigma \sqrt{-g_{tt} \left(g_{zz} + g_{uu} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial\sigma}\right)^2 + g_{xx} \left(\frac{\partial x}{\partial\sigma}\right)^2\right) + g_{tz}^2} \quad (173)$$

As there is no explicit σ dependence in the action the Hamiltonian is once again conserved:

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{L} - u' \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial u'} - x' \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x'} = q.$$
(174)

The Lagrangian is also independent of x, therefore it's conjugate momentum

$$p = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x'} \tag{175}$$

is also conserved. For a timelike string worldsheet and a real action both p and q must be positive. These yield the equations

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{q} [g_{tz}^2 - g_{tt} g_{zz}] = -\frac{-g_{tt} g_{xx} x'}{p}, \qquad (176)$$

$$\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \sigma}\right)^2 = \frac{1}{q^2(-g_{tt}g_{uu})} [-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2] [(-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2)(1 + \frac{p^2}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}) - q^2], (177)$$

and

$$\left(\frac{\partial x}{\partial \sigma}\right)^2 = \frac{p^2}{q^2} \left(\frac{-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2}{-g_{tt}g_{xx}}\right)^2.$$
(178)

This leads to the action

$$S = -\frac{\mathcal{T}T\sqrt{\lambda}}{r_h} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \; \frac{\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2}}{\sqrt{(-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2)(1 + \frac{p^2}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}) - q^2}} \tag{179}$$

The constants of integration p, q determine the angle θ and the length, L. They are given by the equations

$$\tan \theta = \frac{\int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{dx}{d\sigma} \frac{d\sigma}{du}}{\int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{d\sigma}{du}} = \frac{p}{q} \frac{\int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2}{-g_{tt}g_{xx}} \frac{\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{[-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2][(-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2)(1 + \frac{p^2}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}) - q^2]}}{\int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{[-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2][(-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2)(1 + \frac{p^2}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}) - q^2]}}$$
(180)

and

$$L^{2} = 4 \left[\left(\int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{d\sigma}{du} \right)^{2} + \left(\int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{dx}{d\sigma} \frac{d\sigma}{du} \right)^{2} \right] \\ = 4 \left[\left(\int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{q\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}}{\sqrt{[-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^{2}][(-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^{2})(1 + \frac{p^{2}}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}) - q^{2}]}} \right)^{2} \\ + \left(\int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \frac{-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^{2}}{-g_{tt}g_{xx}} \times \frac{p\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}}{-g_{tt}g_{xx}}}{\sqrt{[-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^{2}][(-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^{2})(1 + \frac{p^{2}}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}) - q^{2}]}} \right)^{2} \right].$$
(181)

Once again the action has a logarithmically divergent term as well as a quadratically divergent term, so imposing Neumann boundary conditions will not be an appropriate regularisation procedure, so once again we will subtract the action of two isolated strings travelling at $\theta = \pi/2$ stretching from the boundary to a probe D3 brane located at u_0 , the root of $g_{tt} = 0$.



$$S = -\frac{1}{\pi \alpha'} \int_{u_{min}}^{\Lambda} du \sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2}}{\sqrt{(-g_{tt}g_{zz} + g_{tz}^2)(1 + \frac{p^2}{g_{tt}g_{xx}}) - q^2}} - 1 \right) + \frac{1}{\pi \alpha'} \int_{u_0}^{u_{min}} du \sqrt{-g_{tt}g_{uu}}$$
(182)

The results are once again finite in the $\Lambda \to \infty$ limit.

Using (177) we can eliminate the integration constant q by writing it in terms of p and u_{min} ,

$$q^{2} = (-g_{tt}^{0}g_{zz}^{0} + (g_{tz}^{0})^{2})(1 + \frac{p^{2}}{g_{tt}^{0}g_{xx}^{0}}),$$
(183)

again the fields g_{tt}^0 , g_{tz}^0 , g_{zz}^0 and g_{xx}^0 are evaluated at $u = u_{min}$ here. Note that in (183), while $q^2 > 0$ for large u_{min} , at some critical value it will become negative. This means there is a minimum value of u_{min} below which no solutions of the form of a string descending to u_{min} and heading back out exist.

We can now calculate these quantities numerically and a few of our results are shown below.



Figure 8: Graph of $V(u_{min}) \vee u_{min}$ for $\beta = 1, c = 1$.

As can be seen from Fig (8) the potential is nearly independent of the integration constant p. We find a similar behaviour for all values of c. The only noticeable difference is that the smallest possible value of u_{min} decreases with increasing p, which is shown in Fig (9).



Figure 9: Graph of the minimum value of u_{min} against p.



Figure 10: Graph of $V(u_{min})$ against u_{min} for b = 1.

For all c the minimal value of u_{min} approaches u_0 as p approaches zero, but grows without bound as $p \to \infty$. This means that unless p is small the unstable upper branch solution found when the quark anti quark pair was orthogonal to the medium no longer exists.

We can also see that are regularisation procedure has again yielded a potential $V(u_{min}) \rightarrow 0$ as u_{min} , $L \rightarrow 0$ for the unstable upper branch where it exists.

References

- J. M. Maldacena, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113] [arXiv:hep-th/9711200].
- [2] E. Witten, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [arXiv:hep-Xth/9802150].
- [3] O. Aharony, S. S. Gubser, J. M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri and Y. Oz, Phys. Rept. **323** (2000) 183 [arXiv:hep-th/9905111].
- [4] S. S. Gubser, I. R. Klebanov and A. A. Tseytlin, Nucl. Phys. B534 202 (1998) [arXiv:hep-th/9805156].
- [5] G. Policastro, D. T. Son and A. O. Starinets, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 081601 (2001) [arXiv:hep-th/0104066].
- [6] G. Policastro, D. T. Son and A. O. Starinets, JHEP 0209 (2002) 043 [arXiv:hep-th/0205052].
- [7] D. T. Son and A. O. Starinets, JHEP 0209 (2002) 042 [arXiv:hepth/0205051].
- [8] A. O. Starinets, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 124013 [arXiv:hep-th/0207133].
- [9] I. R. Klebanov and A. M. Polyakov, Phys. Lett. B 550 (2002) 213 [arXiv:hep-th/0210114].
- [10] S. A. Hartnoll, C. P. Herzog and G. T. Horowitz, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 031601 [arXiv:0803.3295 [hep-th]].
- [11] C. P. Herzog, M. Rangamani and S. F. Ross, JHEP 0811 (2008) 080 [arXiv:0807.1099 [hep-th]].
- [12] D. Yamada, Class. Quant. Grav. 26 (2009) 075006 [arXiv:0809.4928 [hep-th]].
- [13] C. Fronsdal Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 3624.
- [14] E. Fradkin and M. Vasiliev, Phys. Lett. **B189** (1987) 89.
- [15] M. A. Vasiliev, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 5 (1996) 763 [arXiv:hepth/9611024].
- [16] J. Engquist, E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, Class. Quant. Grav. 19 (2002)
 6175 [arXiv:hep-th/0207101].

- [17] I. R. Klebanov and E. Witten, Nucl. Phys. B 556 (1999) 89 [arXiv:hepth/9905104].
- [18] K. G. Wilson and J. Kogut, Phys. Rept. **12** (1974) 75
- [19] S. Giombi and X. Yin, arXiv:0912.3462 [hep-th].
- [20] A. C. Petkou, JHEP **0303** (2003) 049 [arXiv:hep-th/0302063].
- [21] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, JHEP 0507 (2005) 044 [arXiv:hepth/0305040].
- [22] S. A. Hartnoll and S. P. Kumar, JHEP 0506 (2005) 012 [arXiv:hepth/0503238].
- [23] R. G. Leigh and A. C. Petkou, JHEP 0306 (2003) 011 [arXiv:hepth/0304217].
- [24] A. C. Petkou, arXiv:hep-th/0410116.
- [25] S. W. Hawking, C. J. Hunter and D. N. Page, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 044033 [arXiv:hep-th/9809035].
- [26] A. Chamblin, R. Emparan, C. V. Johnson and R. C. Myers, "Large N phases, gravitational instantons and the nuts and bolts of AdS Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 064010 [arXiv:hep-th/9808177].
- [27] S. W. Hawking and D. N. Page, Commun. Math. Phys. 87 (1983) 577.
- [28] R. Emparan, C. V. Johnson and R. C. Myers, "Surface terms as counterterms in the AdS/CFT correspondence," Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 104001 [arXiv:hep-th/9903238].
- [29] R. B. Mann, "Misner string entropy," Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 104047 [arXiv:hep-th/9903229].
- [30] M. Kleban, M. Porrati and R. Rabadan, JHEP 0508 (2005) 016 [arXiv:hep-th/0409242].
- [31] R. Britto-Pacumio, A. Strominger and A. Volovich, JHEP **9911** (1999)
 013 [arXiv:hep-th/9905211].
- [32] K. Zoubos, JHEP **0212** (2002) 037 [arXiv:hep-th/0209235].
- [33] E. Radu and D. Astefanesei, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 11 (2002) 715 [arXiv:gr-qc/0112029].

- [34] D. Astefanesei, R. B. Mann and E. Radu, Phys. Lett. B 620 (2005) 1 [arXiv:hep-th/0406050].
- [35] D. Astefanesei, R. B. Mann and E. Radu, JHEP 0501 (2005) 049 [arXiv:hep-th/0407110].
- [36] M. Moshe and J. Zinn-Justin, Phys. Rept. 385 (2003) 69 [arXiv:hepth/0306133].
- [37] R. Critchley and J. S. Dowker, J. Phys. A 14 (1981) 1943.
- [38] R. Critchley and J. S. Dowker, J. Phys. A 15 (1982) 157.
- [39] T. C. Shen and J. Sobczyk, Phys. Rev. D 36 (1987) 397.
- [40] D. T. Son, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 046003 [arXiv:0804.3972 [hep-th]].
- [41] K. Balasubramanian and J. McGreevy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 061601 [arXiv:0804.4053 [hep-th]].
- [42] W. D. Goldberger, JHEP **0903** (2009) 069 [arXiv:0806.2867 [hep-th]].
- [43] J. L. F. Barbon and C. A. Fuertes, JHEP 0809 (2008) 030 [arXiv:0806.3244 [hep-th]].
- [44] A. Adams, K. Balasubramanian and J. McGreevy, JHEP 0811 (2008) 059 [arXiv:0807.1111 [hep-th]].
- [45] Y. Nishida and D. T. Son, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 086004 [arXiv:0706.3746 [hep-th]].
- [46] C. Hagen, Phys. Rev. D 5,377 (1972)
- [47] A. Bergman, K. Dasgupta, O. J. Ganor, J. L. Karczmarek and G. Rajesh, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 066005 [arXiv:hep-th/0103090].
- [48] M. Alishahiha and O. J. Ganor, JHEP 0303 (2003) 006 [arXiv:hepth/0301080].
- [49] E. G. Gimon, A. Hashimoto, V. E. Hubeny, O. Lunin and M. Rangamani, JHEP 0308 (2003) 035 [arXiv:hep-th/0306131].
- [50] V. E. Hubeny, M. Rangamani and S. F. Ross, JHEP 0507 (2005) 037 [arXiv:hep-th/0504034].
- [51] W. H. Huang, JHEP 0507 (2005) 031 [arXiv:hep-th/0504013].

- [52] J. Maldacena, D. Martelli and Y.Tachikawa, [arXiv:0807.1100 [hep-th]].
- [53] O. Aharony, M. Berkooz and N. Seiberg, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 119 [arXiv:hep-th/9712117].
- [54] S. Hellerman and J. Polchinski, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 125002 [arXiv:hep-th/9711037].
- [55] O. J. Ganor and S. Sethi, JHEP 9801 (1998) 007 [arXiv:hepth/9712071].
- [56] A. Kapustin and S. Sethi, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 571 [arXiv:hep-th/9804027].
- [57] K. Wilson, Phys. Rev. D 10, 2445 (1974).
- [58] O. Philipsen, Phys. Lett. B 535 (2002) 138 [arXiv:hep-lat/0203018].
- [59] O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, P. Petreczky and F. Zantow, Phys. Lett. B 543 (2002) 41 [arXiv:hep-lat/0207002].
- [60] O. Jahn and O. Philipsen, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 074504 [arXiv:heplat/0407042].
- [61] M. Laine, O. Philipsen, P. Romatschke and M. Tassler, JHEP 0703 (2007) 054 [arXiv:hep-ph/0611300].
- [62] A. Kovner and U. A. Wiedemann, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 114002 [arXiv:hep-ph/0106240].
- [63] A. Kovner and U. A. Wiedemann, arXiv:hep-ph/0304151.
- [64] H. Liu, K. Rajagopal and U. A. Wiedemann, JHEP 0703 (2007) 066 [arXiv:hep-ph/0612168].
- [65] G. Piller and W. Weise, Phys. Rept. 330 (2000) 1 [arXiv:hepph/9908230].
- [66] Y. V. Kovchegov and L. D. McLerran, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 054025
 [Erratum-ibid. D 62 (2000) 019901] [arXiv:hep-ph/9903246].
- [67] U. A. Wiedemann, Nucl. Phys. B **582** (2000) 409 [arXiv:hep-ph/0003021].

- [68] S. S. Adler *et al.* [PHENIX Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **91** (2003) 072303 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0306021].
- [69] J. Adams et al. [STAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. 91 (2003) 072304 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0306024].
- [70] B. B. Back *et al.* [PHOBOS Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **91** (2003) 072302 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0306025].
- [71] D. Kharzeev, E. Levin and L. McLerran, Phys. Lett. B 561 (2003) 93 [arXiv:hep-ph/0210332].
- [72] R. Baier, A. Kovner and U. A. Wiedemann, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 054009 [arXiv:hep-ph/0305265].
- [73] J. L. Albacete, N. Armesto, A. Kovner, C. A. Salgado and U. A. Wiedemann, Phys. Rev. Lett. **92** (2004) 082001 [arXiv:hep-ph/0307179].
- [74] S. Kretzer, H. L. Lai, F. I. Olness and W. K. Tung, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 114005 [arXiv:hep-ph/0307022].
- [75] J. P. Blaizot, F. Gelis and R. Venugopalan, Nucl. Phys. A 743 (2004) 13 [arXiv:hep-ph/0402256].
- [76] Y. V. Kovchegov and A. H. Mueller, Nucl. Phys. B 529 (1998) 451 [arXiv:hep-ph/9802440].
- [77] R. Baier, Nucl. Phys. A **715** (2003) 209 [arXiv:hep-ph/0209038].
- [78] R. Baier, Y. L. Dokshitzer, A. H. Mueller, S. Peigne and D. Schiff, Nucl. Phys. B 484 (1997) 265 [arXiv:hep-ph/9608322].
- [79] B. G. Zakharov, JETP Lett. 65 (1997) 615 [arXiv:hep-ph/9704255].
- [80] U. A. Wiedemann, Nucl. Phys. B 588 (2000) 303 [arXiv:hepph/0005129].
- [81] B. Z. Kopeliovich, A. V. Tarasov and A. Schafer, Phys. Rev. C 59 (1999) 1609 [arXiv:hep-ph/9808378].
- [82] C. A. Salgado and U. A. Wiedemann, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 014008 [arXiv:hep-ph/0302184].
- [83] S. J. Rey and J. T. Yee, Eur. Phys. J. C 22 (2001) 379 [arXiv:hepth/9803001].

- [84] J. M. Maldacena, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 (1998) 4859 [arXiv:hepth/9803002].
- [85] S. J. Rey, S. Theisen and J. T. Yee, Nucl. Phys. B 527 (1998) 171 [arXiv:hep-th/9803135].
- [86] A. Brandhuber, N. Itzhaki, J. Sonnenschein and S. Yankielowicz, Phys. Lett. B 434 (1998) 36 [arXiv:hep-th/9803137].
- [87] J. Sonnenschein, arXiv:hep-th/0003032.
- [88] H. Liu, K. Rajagopal and U. A. Wiedemann, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 182301 [arXiv:hep-ph/0607062].
- [89] N. Drukker, D. J. Gross and H. Ooguri, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 125006 [arXiv:hep-th/9904191].
- [90] C. P. Herzog, A. Karch, P. Kovtun, C. Kozcaz and L. G. Yaffe, JHEP 0607 (2006) 013 [arXiv:hep-th/0605158].
- [91] S. S. Gubser, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 126005 [arXiv:hep-th/0605182].
- [92] S. D. Avramis, K. Sfetsos and D. Zoakos, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 025009 [arXiv:hep-th/0609079].